
MEETING

CHIPPING BARNET AREA PLANNING COMMITTEE

DATE AND TIME

TUESDAY 4TH SEPTEMBER, 2018

AT 7.00 PM

VENUE

HENDON TOWN HALL, THE BURROUGHS, LONDON NW4 4BG

TO: MEMBERS OF CHIPPING BARNET AREA PLANNING COMMITTEE (Quorum 3)

Chairman: Councillor Stephen Sowerby MA
Vice Chairman: Councillor Wendy Prentice

Alison Cornelius Roberto Weeden-Sanz Laurie Williams
Tim Roberts Reema Patel

Substitute Members
Caroline Stock David Longstaff Paul Edwards
Thomas Smith Jo Cooper Pauline Coakley Webb
Lisa Rutter

You are requested to attend the above meeting for which an agenda is attached.
Andrew Charlwood – Head of Governance

Media Relations Contact: Gareth Greene 020 8359 7039

Please consider the environment before printing. The average Print Cost for this 
Agenda is £3.81 per copy.

Documents are available on:
https://barnet.moderngov.co.uk/uucoverpag

ASSURANCE GROUP



ORDER OF BUSINESS
tem No Title of Report Pages

1.  MINUTES OF LAST MEETING 5 - 10

2.  ABSENCE OF MEMBERS (IF ANY) 

3.  DECLARATION OF MEMBERS' DISCLOSABLE PECUNIARY 
INTERESTS AND NON PECUNIARY INTERESTS (IF ANY) 

4.  REPORT OF THE MONITORING OFFICER (IF ANY) 

5.  ADDENDUM (IF APPLICABLE) 

6.  51 GREENWAY CLOSE LONDON N20 8ES (TOTTERIDGE) 11 - 20

7.  155 CHANCTONBURY WAY LONDON N12 7AE (TOTTERIDGE) 21 - 28

8.  1 SUNSET VIEW BARNET EN5 4LB (HIGH BARNET) 29 - 40

9.  THE TVR CENTRE 129 BARNET ROAD BARNET EN5 3LJ  
(HIGH BARNET) 

41 - 50

10.  THE MINSTREL BOY COMMITTEE REPORT - 18-3529-FUL 51 - 84

11.  ANY ITEM(S) THE CHAIRMAN DECIDES ARE URGENT 

FACILITIES FOR PEOPLE WITH DISABILITIES

Hendon Town Hall has access for wheelchair users including lifts and toilets.  If you wish to let 
us know in advance that you will be attending the meeting, please telephone Naomi Kwasa  
020 8359 4144 naomi.kwasa@Barnet.gov.uk   governanceservice@barnet.gov.uk.  People 
with hearing difficulties who have a text phone, may telephone our minicom number on 020 
8203 8942.  All of our Committee Rooms also have induction loops.

FIRE/EMERGENCY EVACUATION PROCEDURE

If the fire alarm sounds continuously, or if you are instructed to do so, you must leave the building 
by the nearest available exit.  You will be directed to the nearest exit by uniformed custodians.  It 
is vital you follow their instructions.
You should proceed calmly; do not run and do not use the lifts.
Do not stop to collect personal belongings
Once you are outside, please do not wait immediately next to the building, but move some 
distance away and await further instructions.
Do not re-enter the building until told to do so



1

Decisions of the Chipping Barnet Area Planning Committee

17 July 2018

Members Present:-

Councillor Stephen Sowerby (Chairman)
Councillor Wendy Prentice (Vice-Chairman)

Councillor Alison Cornelius
Councillor Tim Roberts

Councillor Laurie Williams
Councillor Weeden-Sanz

1.   MINUTES OF LAST MEETING 
2.   ABSENCE OF MEMBERS (IF ANY) 

None

3.   DECLARATION OF MEMBERS' DISCLOSABLE PECUNIARY INTERESTS AND 
NON PECUNIARY INTERESTS (IF ANY) 

Councillor Wendy Prentice declared a non-pecuniary interest in Item 14, Barnet Market, 
as she knew one of the objectors to the application.

Councillor Alison Cornelius declared a non-pecuniary interest in Item 13, Land at 49 and 
51 Beresford Road as she believed to Know one of the objectors to the application.

4.   REPORT OF THE MONITORING OFFICER (IF ANY) 

None 

5.   ADDENDUM (IF APPLICABLE) 

Items contained within the addendum were considered under individual agenda items.

6.   18 2390 FUL WESSEX COURT 51 WEST END LANE EN5 2RAC 

The Committee received the report and addendum to the report. Representations were 
heard from Mr Stuart Davidson and the applicant. 

A vote was taken on the Officer’s recommendation to APPROVE the application as as 
reported.

The vote recorded was:
For 4 
Against 2

7.   18-1140-FUL - FOUNTAIN LODGE 32 BARNET ROAD 

The Committee received the report and addendum to the report. Representations were 
heard from Mr Stuart Davidson and the applicant. 

3

AGENDA ITEM 1



2

A vote was taken on the Officer’s recommendation to APPROVE the application as 
follows:
In support to approve the application – 0 

The Chairman therefore requested that an alternative recommendation be moved.   
Councillor Wendy Prentice moved to refuse the item which was seconded by the 
Chairman for the reasons listed below.  The Committee unanimously agreed refusal 
which overturned the Officer’s recommendation. 

Resolved:

That the Committee agreed that the item be refused for the following reasons:

8.   18-1588-FUL 1-6 MONKSWELL COURT 

The Committee received the report and addendum to the report. Representations were 
heard from Mr Laura Cunningham and Sinead Norkett. 

Resolved: 
 
That the Committee unanimously APPROVED the Officer’s recommendation as reported 
with the following additional informative: 

 
The applicant is advised to seek building regulations approval to ensure the proposed 
improvements including the outward opening doors comply with Building Control 
regulations.

9.   18-1590-FUL 22-27 MONKSWELL COURT 

1. The proposed development would represent a back-land development resulting in 
an inappropriate development of garden land within an area characterised by 
dwelling houses with large gardens. As such the proposal would be out of keeping 
and have a harmful impact on the character and appearance of the area, contrary 
to policies 3.5, 7.4 and 7.6 of the London Plan (Adopted 2016), policies CSNPPF, 
CS1 and CS5 of the Barnet Core Strategy (Adopted September 2012), policy 
DM01 of the Barnet Development Management Policies Document (Adopted 
September 2012) and the advice contained in the Barnet Residential Design 
Guide Supplementary Planning Document (Adopted October 2016).

2. The proposed development by reason of its size, siting, layout and design would 
be detrimental to the visual and residential amenities of the neighbouring 
occupiers contrary to policies  CS NPPF, CS1 and CS5 of the Core Strategy DPD 
(2012), policies DM01 and DM02 of the Local Plan Development Management 
Policies (2012), The London Plan (2015), Barnet's Sustainable Design and 
Construction Document SPD (2016)

4



3

10.   18-1591-FUL 7-21 MONKSWELL COURT 

The Committee received the report and addendum to the report. Representations were 
heard from Mr Laura Cunningham and Sinead Norkett. 

Resolved: 
 
That the Committee unanimously APPROVED the Officer’s recommendation as reported 
with the following additional informative. 

The applicant is advised to seek building regulations approval to ensure the proposed 
improvements including the outward opening doors comply with Building Control 
regulations.

11.   18-2073- 155 CHANCTONBURY WAY LONDON N12 7AE 

During the consideration of the item an IT issue lead to the failure for Officer’s to deliver 
their presentation.    The Planning Officer circulated hard copy plans for Committee 
Members.  During this stage Councillor Alison Cornelius made some comment in relation 
to the accuracy of the development.   Therefore the Chairman moved to defer the 
application which was seconded by Councillor Wendy Prentice.   

Resolved: 

That the Committee agreed to defer the item to a future meeting. 

12.   18-2210-FUL - GARAGE BLOCK, REAR OF 3 NORMANDY AVENUE, EN5 2HU 

The Committee received the report and addendum to the report. Representations were 
heard from Mr De Souza.

Following the consideration of the item the Committee:

Resolved: 

To APPROVE the application as reported with the following additional condition and 
informative: 

The Committee received the report and addendum to the report. Representations were 
heard from Mr Laura Cunningham and Sinead Norkett. 

Resolved: 
 
That the Committee unanimously APPROVED the Officer’s recommendation as reported 
with the following additional informative. 

The applicant is advised to seek building regulations approval to ensure the proposed 
improvements including the outward opening doors comply with Building Control 
regulations.

5



4

The applicant is advised timber materials to be used, as shown on hereby approved 
plans, shall be of treated wood.

13.   18-2526-OUT - LAND AT 49&51 BERESFORD AVENUE 

The Committee received the report and addendum to the report. Representations were 
heard from Mr Stephen Kennet, Miss Kirstie Fraser and Ward Member, Councillor Lisa 
Rutter. 

A vote was taken on the Officer’s recommendation to APPROVE the application:
In support to approve the application – 0 

The Chairman therefore request that an alternative recommendation.   Councillor Robert 
Weeden Sanz moved to refuse the item which was seconded by Councillor Wendy 
Prentice for the reasons listed below.  The Committee unanimously agreed refusal which 
overturned the Officer’s recommendation. 

Resolved:

That the Committee agreed that the item be refused for the following reasons:

14.   18-2591-FUL - BARNET MARKET 

Additional condition:
The use hereby permitted shall not be open to members of the public before 8am or after 
6.30pm on weekdays and Saturdays and closed on Sundays and Bank and Public 
Holidays.

Reason: To safeguard the amenities of occupiers of adjoining residential properties

Additional Informative 

1.The proposed development by reason of its size, siting, layout, design and scale would 
represent a cramped form of back-land development and an overdevelopment of the site 
that is out of keeping with and harmful to the character and appearance of the area, 
contrary to policies 3.5, 7.4 and 7.6 of the London Plan (Adopted 2016), policies 
CSNPPF, CS1 and CS5 of the Barnet Core Strategy (Adopted September 2012), policy 
DM01 of the Barnet Development Management Policies Document (Adopted September 
2012) and the advice contained in the Barnet Residential Design Guide Supplementary 
Planning Document (Adopted October 2016).

2.The proposed vehicular access road would result in an increased level of vehicular 
activity on site and lead to unacceptable level of noise and disturbance from additional 
comings and goings to the detriment of the amenities of neighbouring occupiers in 
particular to N0’s 47 and 49 Beresford Avenue.  As such this would be contrary to Policy 
DM01 of the Development Management Policies (2012) and CS5 of Barnet’s Core 
Strategy (2012).18

6



5

15.   ANY ITEM(S) THE CHAIRMAN DECIDES ARE URGENT 

None.  

The meeting finished at 21:35

The Committee received the report and addendum to the report. Representations were 
heard from Mr Nicholas Saul and Mr Steven Struthers  and a response form the 
applicant’s agent.
 
A vote was taken on the Officer’s recommendation to APPROVE the application as 
follows:
In support to approve the application – 0 

The Chairman therefore requested that an alternative recommendation.   Councillor 
Wendy Prentice moved to refuse the item which was seconded by the Chairman for the 
reasons listed below.  The Committee unanimously agreed refusal which overturned the 
Officer’s recommendation. 

Resolved:

That the Committee agreed that the item be refused for the following reasons:

1.“The proposed development by reason of its three-storey scale and close relationship 
to residential dwellings along Chipping Close, would result in a harmful level of enclosure 
and overlooking from the third floor clear glazed hotel bedroom windows detrimental to 
the amenities of neighbouring occupiers on Chipping Close. As such this would be 
contrary to Policy DM01 of the Development Management Policies (2012) and CS5 of 
Barnet’s Core Strategy (2012).” 

2.The proposed pedestrian entrance/access on Chipping Close would result in an 
increased level of pedestrian activity and lead to unacceptable levels of noise and 
disturbance from comings and goings to the detriment of the Chipping Close residents. 
As such this would be contrary to Policy DM01 of the Development Management Policies 
(2012) and CS5 of Barnet’s Core Strategy (2012).

3.The proposed development would provide inadequate access to the hotel via Bruce 
Road which would encourage users of the hotel to drive onto and access the hotel via 
the Chipping Close entrance and as a result this would have a harmful impact on the 
neighbouring occupiers of Chipping Close by way of increased noise and traffic 
congestion. As such this would be contrary to Policy DM01 of the Development 
Management Policies (2012) and CS5 and CS9 of Barnet’s Core Strategy (2012).
     

7



This page is intentionally left blank



Location 51 Greenway Close London N20 8ES   

Reference: 18/3853/HSE Received: 21st June 2018
Accepted: 4th July 2018

Ward: Totteridge Expiry 29th August 2018

Applicant: Mr Vinesh Patel

Proposal: Single storey side and rear extension following the demolition of an existing 
garage and carport.  Associated alterations to fenestration

Recommendation: Approve subject to conditions

AND the Committee grants delegated authority to the Service Director-Planning and 
Building Control or Head of Strategic Planning to make any minor alterations, additions or 
deletions to the recommended conditions/obligations or reasons for refusal as set out in 
this report and addendum provided this authority shall be exercised after consultation with 
the Chairman (or in his absence the Vice- Chairman) of the Committee (who may request 
that such alterations, additions or deletions be first approved by the Committee)

 1 The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the 
following approved plans: 

Drawing No.: 
98 (Received on 20.8.2018)
99 (Received on 20.8.2018)
100(Received on20.8.2018)
101(Received on 20.8.2018)
102(Received on 20.8.2018)
103(Received on20.8.2018)
104(Received on 20.8.2018)
105(Received on 20.8.2018)
106(Received on 20.8.2018)
107 Rev.A(Received on 20.8.2018)
108(Received on 20.8.2018)
200 Rev.A (Received on 20.8.2018)
201(Received on 20.8.2018)
202(Received on 20.8.2018)
203(Received on 20.8.2018)
204 Rev.A (Received on 20.8.2018)
205 Rev.A (Received on 20.8.2018)
206 Rev.A (Received on 20.8.2018)
207 Rev.A (Received on 20.8.2018)
208 (Received on 20.8.2018)

9

AGENDA ITEM 6



Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning and so 
as to ensure that the development is carried out fully in accordance with the plans 
as assessed in accordance with Policies CS NPPF and CS1 of the Local Plan Core 
Strategy DPD (adopted September 2012) and Policy DM01 of the Local Plan 
Development Management Policies DPD (adopted September 2012).

 2 This development must be begun within three years from the date of this 
permission.

Reason: To comply with Section 51 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 
2004.

 3 The materials to be used in the external surfaces of the building(s) shall match 
those used in the existing building(s).

Reason: To safeguard the visual amenities of the building and surrounding area in 
accordance with Policy DM01 of the Development Management Policies DPD 
(adopted September 2012) and Policies CS NPPF and CS1 of the Local Plan Core 
Strategy (adopted September 2012).

 4 The roof of the extension hereby permitted shall only be used in connection with the 
repair and maintenance of the building and shall at no time be converted to or used 
as a balcony, roof garden or similar amenity or sitting out area.

Reason: To ensure that the amenities of the occupiers of adjoining properties are 
not prejudiced by overlooking in accordance with policy DM01 of the Development 
Management Policies DPD (adopted September 2012).

Informative(s):

 1 In accordance with paragraphs 38-57 of the NPPF, the Local Planning Authority 
(LPA) takes a positive and proactive approach to development proposals, focused 
on solutions. The LPA has produced planning policies and written guidance to 
assist applicants when submitting applications. These are all available on the 
Council's website. The LPA has negotiated with the applicant/agent where 
necessary during the application process to ensure that the proposed development 
is in accordance with the Development Plan. A pre-application advice service is 
also offered.

10



Officer’s Assessment

1. Site Description

The application site contains a two storey detached property, located on the south side of 
Greenway Close. The area is predominately residential in character with detached 
dwellinghouses. 

The road slopes downwards from West to East. No. 49 Greenway Close is sited at a lower 
level than No.51 Greenway Close.  

The property is not located within a conservation area, and is not listed.

2. Site History

Reference: 18/1605/192
Address: 51 Greenway Close, London, N20 8ES
Decision: Unlawful
Decision Date:   13 April 2018
Description: Extension to roof including 1no side dormer windows to both side elevation, 
new windows to front and rear elevations at second floor level and removal of chimney

Refusal reason:
The gable side projection is an original feature of the dwellinghouse, therefore the roof 
slope of the gable side projection forms part of the principal elevation of the dwelling 
house. If any part of the dwellinghouse would, as a result of the works, extend beyond the 
plane of any existing roof slope which forms the principal elevation of the dwellinghouse 
and fronts a highway it will be considered unlawful.

The works which will extend beyond the plane of the existing roof slope will be the side 
dormer extension therefore the roof extension will project beyond the principle elevation of 
the house which fronts the highway.

Reference: 18/3759/192
Address: 51 Greenway Close, London, N20 8ES
Decision: Lawful
Decision Date:   10 July 2018
Description: Extension to roof including 1no side dormer windows to both side elevation, 
new windows to front and rear elevations at second floor level and removal of chimney

Reference: N15949/07
Address: 51 Greenway Close, London, N20 8ES
Decision: Lawful
Decision Date:   4 February 2008
Description: Erection of carport to side of house.

3. Proposal

The proposal involves single storey side and rear extension following the demolition of an 
existing garage and a covered car port. Associated alterations to fenestration.

11



Single storey rear extension:
The proposed rear extension would extend beyond the original rear wall by 3 metres in 
depth adjacent to the common boundary shared with No. 53 Greenway Close, N20 8ES. 
On the other side with N49 the extension would line up with this neighbours rear addition. 
The rear extension would have a flat roof with a parapet wall. It would have a maximum 
height of 3.1 metres measuring up to the top of the parapet wall and a height of 2.85 
metres measuring from the flat roof to the ground level. 

Single storey side extension:
Following demolition of the existing garage and covered carport, the proposed side 
extension would extend sidewards by 2.35 metres. The proposed side extension would 
extend to the full depth of the original dwellinghouse and link into the rear extension. The 
proposed side extension would be adjacent to the common boundary shared with No.49 
Greenway Close, N20 8ES. The front section of proposed side extension would have a 
pitched roof angle away from No.49 with an eaves height of 2.75 metres and ridge height 
of 3.6 metres. At the rear section, it would have a flat roof and the ridge height would be 
dropped down to 3.1 metres. The side extension would mainly have a flat roof measuring 
3.6 metres high with a mono pitch roof to the front.

Alteration to fenestration:

The proposal also involves 2.no. roof light and windows at the front elevation of the side 
extension. 

4. Public Consultation

Consultation letters were sent to 11 neighbouring properties. 8 objections have been 
received and they can be summarised as follows:
- The proposed side extension would cause loss of light to the adjoining neighbour. 
- The sloping roof of the side extension could cause problems in adverse weather 
conditions and create kind of tunnel effect in front of their garage. 
- It would decrease the parking spaces which cause increase on street parking. 
- Existing block plan is not accurate.
- The plans are not showing No.49 and effects of the proposed extension cannot 
demonstrate the impact on the character of the street. 
- Object on the idea of adding windows on the proposed extensions. 
- Additional bay window is not showing on Drawing Title: Proposed front elevation.
- Proposed side extension would cause loss of light.
- Out of character 
- Overbearing

5. Planning Considerations

5.1 Policy Context

National Planning Policy Framework and National Planning Practice Guidance
The determination of planning applications is made mindful of Central Government advice 
and the Local Plan for the area. It is recognised that Local Planning Authorities must 
determine applications in accordance with the statutory Development Plan, unless material 
considerations indicate otherwise, and that the planning system does not exist to protect 
the private interests of one person against another. 

12



The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) was published on 27 March 2012. This is 
a key part of the Governments reforms to make the planning system less complex and 
more accessible, and to promote sustainable growth.

The NPPF states that 'good design is a key aspect of sustainable development, is 
indivisible from good planning, and should contribute positively to making places better for 
people'. The NPPF retains a presumption in favour of sustainable development. This 
applies unless any adverse impacts of a development would 'significantly and 
demonstrably' outweigh the benefits.

Planning law requires that applications for planning permission be determined in 
accordance with the development plan, unless material considerations indicate otherwise. 
The revised National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) was published on 24th July 
2018. This is a key part of the Governments reforms to make the planning system less 
complex and more accessible, and to promote sustainable growth. It is a material 
consideration in planning decisions. Similar material considerations are the Government's 
planning policy for traveller sites, and its planning policy for waste as well as Written 
Ministerial Statements where relevant to planning decisions. 

Existing policies in Barnet's Local Plan (2012) and the London Plan (2016) should not be 
considered out-of-date simply because they were adopted prior to the publication of the 
revised NPPF. Due weight should be given to them, according to their degree of 
consistency with the revised NPPF.

The Mayor's London Plan 2016
The London Development Plan is the overall strategic plan for London, and it sets out a 
fully integrated economic, environmental, transport and social framework for the 
development of the capital to 2050. It forms part of the development plan for Greater 
London and is recognised in the NPPF as part of the development plan. 

The London Plan provides a unified framework for strategies that are designed to ensure 
that all Londoners benefit from sustainable improvements to their quality of life.

Barnet's Local Plan (2012)

Barnet's Local Plan is made up of a suite of documents including the Core Strategy and 
Development Management Policies Development Plan Documents. Both were adopted in 
September 2012.
- Relevant Core Strategy Policies: CS NPPF, CS1, CS5.
- Relevant Development Management Policies: DM01, DM02.

The Council's approach to extensions as set out in Policy DM01 is to minimise their impact 
on the local environment and to ensure that occupiers of new developments as well as 
neighbouring occupiers enjoy a high standard of amenity. Policy DM01 states that all 
development should represent high quality design and should be designed to allow for 
adequate daylight, sunlight, privacy and outlook for adjoining occupiers. Policy DM02 
states that where appropriate, development will be expected to demonstrate compliance to 
minimum amenity standards and make a positive contribution to the Borough. The 
development standards set out in Policy DM02 are regarded as key for Barnet to deliver 
the highest standards of urban design.

13



Supplementary Planning Documents

Residential Design Guidance SPD (adopted October 2016)
- Sets out information for applicants to help them design an extension to their property 
which would receive favourable consideration by the Local Planning Authority and was the 
subject of separate public consultation. The SPD states that large areas of Barnet are 
characterised by relatively low density suburban housing with an attractive mixture of 
terrace, semidetached and detached houses. The Council is committed to protecting, and 
where possible enhancing the character of the borough's residential areas and retaining 
an attractive street scene.
- States that extensions should normally be subordinate to the original house, respect the 
original building and should not be overly dominant. Extensions should normally be 
consistent in regard to the form, scale and architectural style of the original building which 
can be achieved through respecting the proportions of the existing house and using an 
appropriate roof form.
- In respect of amenity, states that extensions should not be overbearing or unduly 
obtrusive and care should be taken to ensure that they do not result in harmful loss of 
outlook, appear overbearing, or cause an increased sense of enclosure to adjoining 
properties. They should not reduce light to neighbouring windows to habitable rooms or 
cause significant overshadowing, and should not look out of place, overbearing or intrusive 
when viewed from surrounding areas.

Sustainable Design and Construction SPD (adopted October 2016)
- Provides detailed guidance that supplements policies in the adopted Local Plan, and sets 
out how sustainable development will be delivered in Barnet.

5.2 Main issues for consideration

The main issues in this case are considered to be covered under two main areas:

Whether harm would be caused to the character and appearance of the existing building, 
the street scene and the wider locality; and
Whether harm would be caused to the living conditions of neighbouring residents;

5.3 Assessment of proposals
Whether harm would be caused to the character and appearance of the existing building, 
the street scene and the wider locality;

Any scheme for the site will need to respect the character and appearance of the local 
area, relate appropriately to the sites context and comply with development plan policies in 
these respects. This will include suitably addressing the requirements of development plan 
policies such as DM01, CS05 (both of the Barnet Local Plan), 7.4 and 7.6 (both of the 
London Plan).

Policy DM01 states that all proposals should preserve and enhance the local character of 
the area. This application seeks planning permission for the erection of a single storey rear 
and side extension at No. 51 Greenway Close.

The application proposes the erection of a rear extension with a depth of 3 metres. Under 
the Residential Design Guidance SPD, extensions of 4 metres deep are considered 
acceptable for detached properties. It is noted that there are various examples of single 
storey rear extension on this part of the street and the adjacent property (No.53 Greenway 
Close) benefits from single storey side and rear extension with a similar depth. The side 

14



extension would have a width which is half of the main dwelling and it would have a 
pitched roof which would respect the roof form of the main dwellinghouse. Therefore, the 
proposed single storey side and rear extension is considered to be subordinate addition to 
the main dwelling.

Paragraph 14.22 of the Residential Design Guidance states that enough amenity space 
must remain with rear extensions. Due to the size and scale of the proposal, it is not found 
that there would be a detrimental impact to the amenity space of the property.

Overall, the proposed development is considered to comply with the Residential Design 
Guidance SPD, and the proposal is proportionate to the existing house and respects the 
scale, design and character and appearance of the host property, street scene and the 
wider character of the area.

Whether harm would be caused to the living conditions of neighbouring residents;
It will be important that any scheme addresses the relevant development plan policies (for 
example policy DM01 of the Barnet Local Plan and policy 7.6 of the London Plan) in 
respect of the protection of the amenities of neighbouring occupiers. This will include 
taking a full account of all neighbouring sites. 

The proposed side extension would extend further forward of neighbouring garage at 
No.49 lining up with the principle front building line. It should be noted that there is a 
covered car port at front which lines up with the front wall. There is a sloping of the road 
from west to east and No.49 is sited at a lower level than the host site. Concerns have 
been raised with regards to loss of light to one of the neighbouring windows. There 
appears to be a side window facing the host site which appears to be a secondary to the 
main windows at the front. Notwithstanding, there is a gap of 2 metres  between the 
extension and this neighbouring window which is considered sufficient to mitigate any 
adverse impact on neighbours amenity. 

The proposed side extension would have pitched roof angle away from the neighbouring 
property, No.49 Greenway Close. It would have a height of 2.75 metres at eaves level 
raising to a maximum height of 3.6 metres which would be pitched away from the shared 
boundary and No.49. The proposed rear extension would have a ridge height of 3.1 
metres with a parapet wall. With the benefit of the site visit, it is noted that No.49 benefits 
from a single storey side element, which is currently adjacent to the shared boundary. In 
this regard, majority of the proposed extension would be obscured from view of No.49 by 
the body of the existing side element, accordingly it would not harm their residential 
amenity.  The proposed extensions would not extended beyond the rear wall of this side 
element. 

On the other side, it is noted that No. 53 Greenway Close is sitting at a higher ground level 
and benefits from a single storey side and rear extension. It is also noted that the 
proposed rear extension would not be extending further beyond the rear wall of No.53 and 
the proposed rear extension complies with the requirement under Barnet's Residential 
Design Guidance SPD (2016). The host property has a building footprint staggered further 
forward of No.53 to the front. However, the proposed rear extension would be set in 
approximately 2 metres from the shared boundary with No. 53. It is considered the 
proposed extension would not appear as over bearing or visually obtrusive on the 

15



occupiers of No. 53.  As a result, it is not considered to cause any overlooking or visual 
intrusive to the neighbour occupiers on No. 53.  

Taking this into consideration, the proposed extension is not considered to result in 
unacceptable levels of harm to the visual or residential amenity of either neighbouring 
occupiers in accordance with Policy DM01 of the Development Management Policies 
DPD. This includes impacts in terms of daylight, sunlight and overshadowing, noise, 
disturbance, light pollution, outlook, overlooking, loss of privacy, visual impacts and 
overbearing relationships.

5.4 Response to Public Consultation
Mainly addressed in the body of the report however further comments made as follows:
 
- Additional bay window is not showing on Drawing Title: Proposed front elevation. 
Bay window is not part of the proposal. 

- The plans are not showing No.49 and effects of the proposed extension cannot 
demonstrate the impact on the character of the street. 
This is not a requirement however, Drawing No.: 204 Rev.A has been revised and No.49 
has been shown on the drawing.
  
- It would decrease the parking spaces which cause increase on street parking. 
Existing garage would be demolished, but there are sufficient space to park a car on the 
hardstanding area.  

- Existing block plan is not accurate.
The plan has been revised and validated. It is drawn in accordance with the existing 
situation.

6. Equality and Diversity Issues

The proposals do not conflict with either Barnet Council's Equalities Policy or the 
commitments set in our Equality Scheme and supports the council in meeting its statutory 
equality responsibilities.

7. Conclusion

Having taken all material considerations into account, it is considered that subject to 
compliance with the attached conditions, this proposal complies with the Adopted Barnet 
Local Plan policies and guidance and would be in keeping with the character and 
appearance of the surrounding area. It is not considered to have a detrimental impact on 
the residential amenities of neighbouring occupiers. This application is therefore 
recommended for APPROVAL.

16



17



This page is intentionally left blank



Location 155 Chanctonbury Way London N12 7AE   

Reference: 18/2073/HSE Received: 4th April 2018
Accepted: 6th April 2018

Ward: Totteridge Expiry 1st June 2018

Applicant: Mr & Mrs Rusta

Proposal: Ground floor outbuilding (Summer house) with storage (basement 
level)

Recommendation: Approve subject to conditions

AND the Committee grants delegated authority to the Service Director of Planning and 
Building Control or Head of Strategic Planning to make any minor alterations, additions or 
deletions to the recommended conditions/obligations or reasons for refusal as set out in this 
report and addendum provided this authority shall be exercised after consultation with the 
Chairman (or in his absence the Vice- Chairman) of the Committee (who may request that 
such alterations, additions or deletions be first approved by the Committee)

 1 The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the 
following approved plans: 

PA_001 RevA Site plan/block plan
PA_002 REV A
PA_003
PA_004
PA_005
PA_006

Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning and so as 
to ensure that the development is carried out fully in accordance with the plans as 
assessed in accordance with Policies CS NPPF and CS1 of the Local Plan Core 
Strategy DPD (adopted September 2012) and Policy DM01 of the Local Plan 
Development Management Policies DPD (adopted September 2012).

 2 This development must be begun within three years from the date of this permission.

Reason: To comply with Section 51 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 
2004.

 3 The materials to be used in the external surfaces of the building(s) shall match those 
indicated in the submitted application form.

Reason: To safeguard the visual amenities of the building and surrounding area in 
accordance with Policy DM01 of the Development Management Policies DPD 

19

AGENDA ITEM 7



(adopted September 2012) and Policies CS NPPF and CS1 of the Local Plan Core 
Strategy (adopted September 2012).

 4 The use of the outbuilding hereby permitted shall at all times be ancillary to and 
occupied in conjunction with the main building and shall not at any time be occupied 
as a separate unit or dwelling.

Reason: To ensure that the development does not prejudice the character of the 
locality and the amenities of occupiers of adjoining residential properties in 
accordance with Policy DM01 of the Development Management Policies DPD 
(adopted September 2012).

Informative(s):

 1 In accordance with paragraphs 186-187, 188-195 and 196-198 of the NPPF, the 
Local Planning Authority (LPA) takes a positive and proactive approach to 
development proposals, focused on solutions. The LPA has produced planning 
policies and written guidance to assist applicants when submitting applications. 
These are all available on the Council's website. The LPA has negotiated with the 
applicant/agent where necessary during the application process to ensure that the 
proposed development is in accordance with the Development Plan.

20



Officer’s Assessment

This item was deferred at the 17th July 2018 Chipping Barnet Area Planning Committee 
meeting as during the consideration of the item  IT issue lead to the failure for officers to 
deliver their presentations and whilst hard copy of the plans were circulated, members raised 
concerns about the accuracy of the plans.

The application has been called in by Councillor Caroline Stock, the reason being due to 
concerns with the size of the structure. 

1. Site Description

The application site contains a semi-detached dwellinghouse, located on the south of 
Chanctonbury Way, which is a predominantly residential area. The proposed development 
will be located to the rear of the site. The property backs on to the London equestrian centre. 

The property is not located within a conservation area, and is not listed.

The property is currently undergoing building works following recent planning approvals and 
also including the proposed outbuilding. 

There has been a number of joint applications for 155 and 157 Chanctonbury Way, this 
proposal is for 155 Chanctonbury Way only. 

2. Site History

Reference: 17/6065/HSE
Address: 155 Chanctonbury Way, London, N12 7AE
Decision: Approved subject to conditions
Decision Date:   14 December 2017
Description: Part single, part two storey side and rear extension following demolition of 
existing attached garage. Extension to roof including hip to gable end, 1no rear dormer 
window and 2no roof lights to front elevation. Basement excavation below footprint of ground 
floor. Associated changes to windows and door including relocation of front entrance to 155 
Chanctonbury Avenue. Part single-part two-storey side and rear extension following 
demolition of existing side/rear extension and garage. Association changes to windows and 
door including relocation of front entrance to 157 Chanctonbury Avenue

Reference: 18/0129/FUL
Address: 155 Chanctonbury Way, London, N12 7AE
Decision: Approved subject to conditions
Decision Date:   28 February 2018
Description: Demolition of no 155 and erection of 1no dwelling. Part single-part two-storey 
side and rear extension following demolition of existing side/rear extension and garage. 
Association changes to windows and door including relocation of front entrance to 157 
Chanctonbury Avenue

Reference: 18/1981/CON
Address: 155 Chanctonbury Way, London, N12 7AE

21



Decision: Approved
Decision Date:   17 May 2018
Description: Submission of details of conditions 3 (Materials) 13 (Demolition and 
Construction Method Statement) pursuant to planning permission 18/0129/FUL dated 
28/02/18

Reference: 17/0497/HSE
Address: 155 and 157 Chanctonbury Way, London, N12 7AE
Decision: Refused
Decision Date:   12 April 2017
Description: Part single, part two storey side and rear extension following demolition of 
existing attached garage. Extension to roof including hip to gable end, 1no rear dormer 
window and 2no roof lights to front elevation. Associated changes to windows and door 
including relocation of front entrance to 155 Chanctonbury Avenue. Part single-part two-
storey side and rear extension following demolition of existing side/rear extension and 
garage. Association changes to windows and door including relocation of front entrance to 
157 Chanctonbury Avenue

Appeal Reference: APP/N5090/D/17/3177417
Address: 155 and 157 Chanctonbury Way, London, N12 7AE
Decision: Appeal Allowed
Date: 8 September 2017

Reference: 17/2939/HSE
Address: 155 and 157 Chanctonbury Way, London, N12 7AE
Decision: Approved subject to conditions
Decision Date:   30 June 2017
Description: Part single, part two storey side and rear extension following demolition of 
existing attached garage. Extension to roof including hip to gable end, 1no rear dormer 
window and 2no roof lights to front elevation. Associated changes to windows and door 
including relocation of front entrance to 155 Chanctonbury Avenue. Part single-part two-
storey side and rear extension following demolition of existing side/rear extension and 
garage. Association changes to windows and door including relocation of front entrance to 
157 Chanctonbury Avenue

3. Proposal

This application seeks planning permission for:

Summer house and storage building at lower ground floor level
Single storey outbuilding is to measure 5 metres in depth, 11 metres in width, the basement 
level will have a height of 2.5 metres and the ground level will have a maximum height of 3 
metres to a slight sloped roof.

4. Public Consultation

Consultation letters were sent to 8 neighbouring properties. 1 response has been received 
and can be summarise below:

- Working hours
22



- Comments relating to other works on the site

Re-consultation was carried out due to a change in description. The initial consultation was 
carried out with the description of development being for a single storey outbuilding. To 
provide clarity the description of development was amended to make it clear that a basement 
level for storage also forms part of the development. No additional comments were received 
following the second round of consultation. 

5. Planning Considerations
5.1 Policy Context

National Planning Policy Framework and National Planning Practice Guidance
The determination of planning applications is made mindful of Central Government advice 
and the Local Plan for the area. It is recognised that Local Planning Authorities must 
determine applications in accordance with the statutory Development Plan, unless material 
considerations indicate otherwise, and that the planning system does not exist to protect the 
private interests of one person against another.

The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) was published on 27 March 2012. This is 
a key part of the Governments reforms to make the planning system less complex and more 
accessible, and to promote sustainable growth.

The NPPF states that 'good design is a key aspect of sustainable development, is indivisible 
from good planning, and should contribute positively to making places better for people'. 
The NPPF retains a presumption in favour of sustainable development. This applies unless 
any adverse impacts of a development would 'significantly and demonstrably' outweigh the 
benefits.

The Mayor's London Plan 2016 (MALP)
The London Development Plan is the overall strategic plan for London, and it sets out a fully 
integrated economic, environmental, transport and social framework for the development of 
the capital to 2031. It forms part of the development plan for Greater London and is 
recognised in the NPPF as part of the development plan.

The London Plan provides a unified framework for strategies that are designed to ensure 
that all Londoners benefit from sustainable improvements to their quality of life.

Barnet's Local Plan (2012)
Barnet's Local Plan is made up of a suite of documents including the Core Strategy and 
Development Management Policies Development Plan Documents. Both were adopted in 
September 2012.
- Relevant Core Strategy Policies: CS NPPF, CS1, CS5.
- Relevant Development Management Policies: DM01, DM02.

The Council's approach to extensions as set out in Policy DM01 is to minimise their impact 
on the local environment and to ensure that occupiers of new developments as well as 
neighbouring occupiers enjoy a high standard of amenity. Policy DM01 states that all 
development should represent high quality design and should be designed to allow for 
adequate daylight, sunlight, privacy and outlook for adjoining occupiers. Policy DM02 states 
that where appropriate, development will be expected to demonstrate compliance to 
minimum amenity standards and make a positive contribution to the Borough. The 
development standards set out in Policy DM02 are regarded as key for Barnet to deliver the 
highest standards of urban design.

23



Supplementary Planning Documents
Residential Design Guidance SPD (adopted 2016)
- Sets out information for applicants to help them design an extension to their property which 
would receive favourable consideration by the Local Planning Authority and was the subject 
of separate public consultation. The SPD states that large areas of Barnet are characterised 
by relatively low density suburban housing with an attractive mixture of terrace, semi-
detached and detached houses. The Council is committed to protecting, and where possible 
enhancing the character of the borough's residential areas and retaining an attractive street 
scene.
- States that extensions should normally be subordinate to the original house, respect the 
original building and should not be overly dominant. Extensions should normally be 
consistent in regard to the form, scale and architectural style of the original building which 
can be achieved through respecting the proportions of the existing house and using an 
appropriate roof form.
- In respect of amenity, states that extensions should not be overbearing or unduly obtrusive 
and care should be taken to ensure that they do not result in harmful loss of outlook, appear 
overbearing, or cause an increased sense of enclosure to adjoining properties. They should 
not reduce light to neighbouring windows to habitable rooms or cause significant 
overshadowing, and should not look out of place, overbearing or intrusive when viewed from 
surrounding areas.

Sustainable Design and Construction SPD (adopted 2016)
- Provides detailed guidance that supplements policies in the adopted Local Plan, and sets 
out how sustainable development will be delivered in Barnet.

5.2 Main issues for consideration

The main issues for consideration in this case are:
- Whether harm would be caused to the character and appearance of the existing building, 
the street scene and the wider locality;
- Whether harm would be caused to the living conditions of neighbouring residents.

5.3 Assessment of proposals

It should be noted that various works have been carried out the site to implement existing 
permissions relating to the main dwellinghouse. Further to this works have begun to erect 
the outbuilding to the rear of the site, however, works have stopped whilst permission is 
sought. 
Currently on site is a framework for the outbuilding and excavations for the basement level 
have taken place. Although part of the site works to the main property do not affect the 
proposal for the outbuilding and due consideration of the planning merits of the outbuilding 
should be considered separately. 

Character and Street Scene

The Council's SPD 'Residential Design Guidance' states that extensions should normally be 
subordinate to the original house, respect the original building and should not be overly 
dominant. 

The proposed outbuilding is located to the rear of the site and not visible from the 
streetscene. The host site benefits from a large garden and the proposed outbuilding will be 
set away from all boundaries. The outbuilding would be sited a sufficient distance from the 

24



rear elevation of the main property and surrounding boundaries to retain a degree of 
openness and ensure the proposal does not result in an overdevelopment of the site when 
taking into consideration other consented works relating to the main property. Given the 
distance of separation between the proposed outbuilding and the dwelling house and the 
relative sizes between both buildings, it is considered that the proposed development would 
not appear as an overly large building in this context.  It is noted that the building will have 
2 storeys, however, there will be no visual manifestation of the basement level which is to 
be used as a store with access being from within the building. At ground level the building 
will appear as single storey. The proposed outbuilding would appear as subordinate and 
proportionate structure in the context of the site. A substantial garden area would remain 
ensuring adequate amenity space provision for the occupiers of the property and the building 
will not disrupt the wider character of the area. 

It is acknowledged that the construction works for the proposal have begun, the visible 
structure is single storey in height. It is considered to be subservient to the character of the 
original building and will not detract from the character of the building and the relationship 
established character of the area or the site of which it relates. 

For the above reasons, it is not considered the proposal would have a detrimental impact to 
the character of the host dwellinghouse or the surrounding area.

Residential Amenity

The Council's approach to extensions as set out in Policy DM01 is to minimise their impact 
on the local environment and to ensure that occupiers of new developments as well as 
neighbouring occupiers enjoy a high standard of amenity. 

Policy DM01 of the Development Management Policies (Adopted) 2012 states that all 
development should represent high quality design and should be designed to allow for 
adequate daylight, sunlight, privacy and outlook for adjoining occupiers. 

The host property benefits from a large size garden which increases in width at the rear due 
to the location of the property location on the turning head of Chanctonbury Way. The 
proposed outbuilding will be set away 3 metres from the boundary with no. 153, 16m from 
the boundary with no.157  and 4 metres from the rear boundary where there are no 
residential properties being adjacent to the London Equestrian Centre. Given the height of 
3 metres and the structure is set away from the boundaries, it is not considered this proposed 
development would cause harm to the amenity of the neighbouring properties by way of 
overbearing or overshadowing. 

it is noted that permitted development for rear outbuildings indicates that outbuildings set 
2m from all boundaries can extend up to a height of 4m, accordingly, a height of 3m set off 
all neighbouring boundaries is not considered to be harmful to the neighbouring amenities. 

The proposed outbuilding would be used as a summer house/ store and the basement level 
to be used as a store room it is not considered the bi-folding door facing the north elevation 
would create any overlooking for neighbouring properties being set a sufficient distance from 
the neighbouring properties.

5.4 Response to Public Consultation

25



- Working hours - concern relating to out of hours construction works is not a planning 
consideration. Neighbours can report noise nuisance to environmental health 
- Comments relating to other works on the site - This application can only asses the 
proposal for the outbuilding. any unauthorised work can be reported to the planning 
enforcement team. 
 

6. Equality and Diversity Issues

The proposal does not conflict with either Barnet Council's Equalities Policy or the 
commitments set in the Equality Scheme and supports the Council in meeting its statutory 
equality responsibilities.

7. Conclusion

Having taken all material considerations into account, it is considered that subject to 
compliance with the attached conditions, the proposed outbuilding would have an 
acceptable impact on the character and appearance of the application site, the street scene 
and the locality. The development is not considered to have a significant adverse impact on 
the amenities of neighbouring occupiers or the residents of the host property. This 
application is therefore recommended for APPROVAL.

26



Location 1 Sunset View Barnet EN5 4LB   

Reference: 18/3889/HSE Received: 22nd June 2018
Accepted: 22nd June 2018

Ward: High Barnet Expiry 17th August 2018

Applicant: Mr Ahmet Eren

Proposal: Single storey side and rear extension following demolition of existing 
conservatory

Recommendation: Approve subject to conditions

AND the Committee grants delegated authority to the Service Director of Planning and 
Building Control or Head of Strategic Planning to make any minor alterations, additions or 
deletions to the recommended conditions/obligations or reasons for refusal as set out in 
this report and addendum provided this authority shall be exercised after consultation with 
the Chairman (or in his absence the Vice- Chairman) of the Committee (who may request 
that such alterations, additions or deletions be first approved by the Committee)

 1 The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the 
following approved plans:

- Drawing A100 'Site and Location Plan'
- Drawing A101 'Existing Ground Floor Plans'
- Drawing A102 'Existing Roof Plan'
- Drawing A103 'Existing Front and Rear Elevations'
- Drawing A104 'Existing L-Side and R-Side Elevations'
- Drawing A105 'Existing Light Study (Section XX)'

- Drawing A106 'Proposed Ground Floor Plans'
- Drawing A107 'Proposed Roof Plan'
- Drawing A108 A'Proposed Front & Rear Elevations'
- Drawing A109 'Proposed L-Side and R-Side Elevations'
- Drawing A110 'Proposed Light Study (Section XX) and Existing and Proposed 
Areas'

Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning and so as 
to ensure that the development is carried out fully in accordance with the plans as 
assessed in accordance with Policies CS NPPF and CS1 of the Local Plan Core 
Strategy DPD (adopted September 2012) and Policy DM01 of the Local Plan 
Development Management Policies DPD (adopted September 2012).

27

AGENDA ITEM 8



 2 This development must be begun within three years from the date of this permission.

Reason: To comply with Section 51 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 
2004.

 3 a) No development other than demolition works shall take place until details of the 
materials to be used for the external surfaces of the building(s), including windows 
and doors, hereby approved have been submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority.

b) The development shall thereafter be implemented in accordance with the materials 
as approved under this condition.

Reason: To safeguard the character and visual amenities of the site and wider area 
and to ensure that the building is constructed in accordance with Policies CS NPPF 
and CS1 of the Local Plan Core Strategy (adopted September 2012), Policy DM01 
of the Development Management Policies DPD (adopted September 2012) and 
Policies 1.1, 7.4, 7.5 and 7.6 of the London Plan 2016.

 4 Before the building hereby permitted is first occupied the proposed windows in the 
side elevation facing No.3 Sunset View shall be glazed with obscure glass only and 
shall be permanently retained as such thereafter and shall be permanently fixed shut 
with only a fanlight opening.

Reason: To safeguard the privacy and amenities of occupiers of adjoining residential 
properties in accordance with Policy DM01 of the Development Management Policies 
DPD (adopted September 2012) and the Residential Design Guidance SPD (adopted 
April 2013).

 5 Notwithstanding the provisions of any development order made under Section 59 of 
the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (or any Order revoking and re-enacting that 
Order) no windows or doors, other than those expressly authorised by this 
permission, shall be placed at any time in the side elevation, of the extension hereby 
approved, facing No.3 Sunset View.

Reason: To safeguard the privacy and amenities of occupiers of adjoining residential 
properties in accordance with policy DM01 of the Development Management Policies 
DPD (adopted September 2012).

 6 The roof of the extension hereby permitted shall only be used in connection with the 
repair and maintenance of the building and shall at no time be converted to or used 
as a balcony, roof garden or similar amenity or sitting out area.

Reason: To ensure that the amenities of the occupiers of adjoining properties are not 
prejudiced by overlooking in accordance with policy DM01 of the Development 
Management Policies DPD (adopted September 2012).

Informative(s):
28



 1 'In accordance with paragraphs 38-57 of the NPPF, the Local Planning Authority 
(LPA) takes a positive and proactive approach to development proposals, focused on 
solutions. The LPA has produced planning policies and written guidance to assist 
applicants when submitting applications. These are all available on the Council's 
website. The LPA has negotiated with the applicant/agent where necessary during 
the application process to ensure that the proposed development is in accordance 
with the Development Plan'

29



Officer’s Assessment

1. Site Description

The application property is a two-storey detached dwelling located at No.1 Sunset View. The 
property is located on the eastern end of Sunset view and shares a boundary with St Albans 
Road. 

The application site falls within the Monken Hadley Conservation Area. The property is not 
listed. 
To the rear, the host site adjoins the Old Ford Manor Golf Course which is in the Green Belt; 
however, the property itself is not designated as Green Belt land. 

There are no tree preservation orders on site.

2. Site History

Reference: 18/1072/HSE
Address: 1 Sunset View, Barnet, EN5 4LB
Decision: Refused at Committee
Decision Date:   4 July 2018
Description: Single storey rear extension. Part first floor and part single part two storey side 
extensions. Alterations to existing garage door

The previous application for a single storey rear extension. Part first floor and part single 
part two storey side extensions. Alterations to existing garage door was refused at 
Committee for the following reasons:

- The proposed two-storey side extension, by reason of its size, siting, height and the 
fenestration detailing including loss of the garage door would result in an obtrusive and 
uncharacteristic form of development highly visible within the streetscene which would 
disrupt the established character of buildings in the immediate locality, result in the 4 loss of 
the garage door which is a common feature of this part of the Conservation Area and would 
reduce the gaps between the neighbouring properties reducing the glimpsed views through 
to and from the Conservation Area which are characteristic of the area. In this regard, the 
proposal is considered unacceptable, and would detract from the character and appearance 
of the host property and the wider area and would fail to preserve or enhance the character 
and appearance of the Monken Hadley Conservation Area , contrary to policies CS1 and 
CS5 of the Barnet Core Strategy (Adopted September 2012), policy DM01 and DM06 of the 
Barnet Development Management Policies Document (Adopted September 2012) policy 7.4 
and 7.6 of the London Plan (2016) and the advice contained in the Barnet Residential Design 
Guide Supplementary Planning Document (Adopted 2016); and,

- The proposed two storey side extension by reason of its size, siting, height and 
relationship to adjoining neighbouring property would be unduly obtrusive and result in a 
harmful loss of outlook detrimental to the visual and residential amenities of the occupiers 
of N0.3 Sunset View. The application is therefore considered to be unacceptable and 
contrary to Policy DM01 of the Barnet Development Management Policies DPD (2012), 
Policy 7.4 and 7.6 of the London Plan (2016) and the guidance contained within the Barnet 
Residential Design Guidance Supplementary Planning Document (2016). 

3. Proposal

30



The proposal seeks to construct a single storey side and rear extension following the 
demolition of the existing conservatory. 

The proposed side extension will infill the existing eastern side elevation, extending out from 
the flank elevation to be flush with the flank wall of the existing garage, with the majority of 
the side extension having a width of 0.4 metres, with a maximum infill on this side elevation 
of 2.8 metres where the existing gap between the garage and kitchen is to be infilled. The 
extension will extend a total depth of 13.7 metres, being a maximum depth of 3 metres 
beyond the original rear wall. The extensions ultimately seek to square-off the footprint of 
the ground floor of the existing building. 

The difference between this proposal and the proposal that was refused under reference 
no. 18/1072/HSE is that this proposal is single storey only, and the garage door is being 
retained. Two storey element has been omitted from this scheme.

4. Public Consultation

Consultation letters were sent to 3 neighbouring properties.
8 responses have been received, comprising 7 letters of objection, and 1 representation.

The objections received can be summarised as follows:

- The proposal is not in keeping with the principle aims and intent of being a 
conservation area.
- The alterations do not enhance the conservation area
- The property is visible from public land and the proposed extension is out of keeping 
with the character of the existing house
- The use of UPVC windows is unacceptable in a conservation area
- Object to the loss of the arts and crafts fenestration to the existing conservatory 
- The drawing fails to honour that new windows will be similar in appearance and no 
detail has been given around this matter
- The extension may comply with planning guidance but it is a divergence from the 
design of the rest of the house.

- The design of the extension with the expanse of bi-fold doors is out of keeping with 
the arts and crafts design of the host building.

- The property is subject to more stringent guidelines due to its location within the 
conservation area (p45, 8.1)

- The property to the east will experience a loss of light to the flank elevation windows 
serving primary living spaces on the ground floor.

A letter has also been received from Theresa Villiers MP contents of which expresses the 
following matters:

- If the scheme is allowed, the opportunity to have this property added to the Council's 
Schedule of Buildings of Local Architectural or Historic Interest will be lost
- More stringent planning guidelines should be applied due to this property being 
located within the conservation area.
- The application should be refused.

31



Council's Heritage Team was consulted regarding the previous application and raised no 
objections to the proposed extensions; however, they advised that the proposed materials 
must strictly match the existing property in order to mitigate any impact on the original 
character and appearance of the host site as well as the surrounding and wider conservation 
area. Based on this advice, and the reduced scheme that has been proposed, the team 
were not re-consulted as part of this application.

5. Planning Considerations

5.1 Policy Context

National Planning Policy Framework and National Planning Practice Guidance
The determination of planning applications is made mindful of Central Government advice 
and the Local Plan for the area. It is recognised that Local Planning Authorities must 
determine applications in accordance with the statutory Development Plan, unless material 
considerations indicate otherwise, and that the planning system does not exist to protect the 
private interests of one person against another. 

The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) was published on 27 March 2012. This is 
a key part of the Governments reforms to make the planning system less complex and more 
accessible, and to promote sustainable growth.

The NPPF states that 'good design is a key aspect of sustainable development, is indivisible 
from good planning, and should contribute positively to making places better for people'. 
The NPPF retains a presumption in favour of sustainable development. This applies unless 
any adverse impacts of a development would 'significantly and demonstrably' outweigh the 
benefits.

Planning law requires that applications for planning permission be determined in accordance 
with the development plan, unless material considerations indicate otherwise. The revised 
National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) was published on 24th July 2018. This is a key 
part of the Governments reforms to make the planning system less complex and more 
accessible, and to promote sustainable growth. It is a material consideration in planning 
decisions. Similar material considerations are the Government's planning policy for traveller 
sites, and its planning policy for waste as well as Written Ministerial Statements where 
relevant to planning decisions. 

Existing policies in Barnet's Local Plan (2012) and the London Plan (2016) should not be 
considered out-of-date simply because they were adopted prior to the publication of the 
revised NPPF. Due weight should be given to them, according to their degree of consistency 
with the revised NPPF.

The Mayor's London Plan 2016

The London Development Plan is the overall strategic plan for London, and it sets out a fully 
integrated economic, environmental, transport and social framework for the development of 
the capital to 2050. It forms part of the development plan for Greater London and is 
recognised in the NPPF as part of the development plan. 

The London Plan provides a unified framework for strategies that are designed to ensure 
that all Londoners benefit from sustainable improvements to their quality of life.

The Draft London Plan
32



'Whilst capable of being a material consideration, at this early stage very limited weight 
should be attached to the Draft London Plan. Although this weight will increase as the Draft 
London Plan progresses to examination stage and beyond, applications should continue to 
be determined in accordance with the 2016 London Plan.'

Barnet's Local Plan (2012)

Barnet's Local Plan is made up of a suite of documents including the Core Strategy and 
Development Management Policies Development Plan Documents. Both were adopted in 
September 2012.

- Relevant Core Strategy Policies: CS NPPF, CS1, CS5.
- Relevant Development Management Policies: DM01, DM02 and DM06. 

The Council's approach to extensions as set out in Policy DM01 is to minimise their impact 
on the local environment and to ensure that occupiers of new developments as well as 
neighbouring occupiers enjoy a high standard of amenity. Policy DM01 states that all 
development should represent high quality design and should be designed to allow for 
adequate daylight, sunlight, privacy and outlook for adjoining occupiers. 

Policy DM02 states that where appropriate, development will be expected to demonstrate 
compliance to minimum amenity standards and make a positive contribution to the Borough. 
The development standards set out in Policy DM02 are regarded as key for Barnet to deliver 
the highest standards of urban design.

Policy DM06 relates to conservation and archaeology, and seeks to ensure that all proposals 
preserve or enhance the character and appearance of the conservation areas of Barnet.

Supplementary Planning Documents

Residential Design Guidance SPD (adopted October 2016)

-  Sets out information for applicants to help them design an extension to their property which 
would receive favourable consideration by the Local Planning Authority and was the subject 
of separate public consultation. The SPD states that large areas of Barnet are characterised 
by relatively low density suburban housing with an attractive mixture of terrace, semi-
detached and detached houses. The Council is committed to protecting, and where possible 
enhancing the character of the borough's residential areas and retaining an attractive street 
scene.

- States that an extension should normally be subordinate to the original house, respect the 
original building and should not be overly dominant. Extensions should normally be 
consistent in regard to the form, scale and architectural style of the original building which 
can be achieved through respecting the proportions of the existing house and using an 
appropriate roof form.

- In respect of amenity, states that extensions should not be overbearing or unduly obtrusive 
and care should be taken to ensure that they do not result in harmful loss of outlook, appear 
overbearing, or cause an increased sense of enclosure to adjoining properties. They should 
not reduce light to neighbouring windows to habitable rooms or cause significant 
overshadowing, and should not look out of place, overbearing or intrusive when viewed from 
surrounding areas.

33



Sustainable Design and Construction SPD (adopted October 2016)

- Provides detailed guidance that supplements policies in the adopted Local Plan, and sets 
out how sustainable development will be delivered in Barnet.

Monken Hadley Conservation Area Character Appraisal Statement (adopted January 2007)

- This character appraisal assessment includes information to explain and justify the 
Conservation Area status. It forms a basis for planning decisions in the area and provides 
the groundwork for any future policies and projects to preserve or enhance the area.

5.2 Main issues for consideration

The main issues for consideration in this case are:

- Whether harm would be caused to the character and appearance of the existing building, 
the street scene and the wider locality;
- Whether harm would be caused to the living conditions of neighbouring residents.

5.3 Assessment of proposals

The Council's approach to extensions as set out in Policy DM01 is to minimise their impact 
on the local environment and to ensure that occupiers of new developments as well as 
neighbouring occupiers enjoy a high standard of amenity. 

Residential Amenity

Policy DM01 of the Development Management Policies (Adopted) 2012 states that all 
development should represent high quality design and should be designed to allow for 
adequate daylight, sunlight, privacy and outlook for adjoining occupiers. 

The host site benefits from an original single storey garage of which has been converted 
into a habitable room but has retained the garage door, and a kitchen extension at the side 
facing the boundary of 3 Sunset View. The existing garage and kitchen are not joined, there 
is a gap of 0.87m between the two structures.  Following a site visit to the application 
property, it is noted that the existing garage structure is sited 0.4m closer to the eastern 
neighbouring boundary (1.9m from the garage and 2.3m from the kitchen flank wall). 

The proposed single storey side and rear extension will be constructed following the removal 
of the existing unsightly polycarbonate structure removed from the side access of the subject 
site, and will not extend any closer to the boundary shared with no. 3 Sunset View than the 
flank elevation of the existing garage.  It should be noted that whilst undertaking a site visit, 
it was observed that the neighbouring property has a 3-metre-deep covering/shed located 
on the side elevation adjoining the shared boundary.

As the extensions are single storey, they are not considered to impact the amenity of the 
first floor of the neighbouring property. 

The side and rear extension has been designed with a low height adjoining the boundary, 
being 2.7 metres, and are set away approximately 1.9 metres from the boundary shared 
with no. 3. This height is 0.2 metres greater than the existing sheltered side access, and 

34



therefore given the extension is not any closer to the shared boundary, the impact on 
residential amenity is considered an improvement on the neighbouring property.

Furthermore, the setback of the side and rear extension from the shared boundary is 
considered to mitigate the potential impact this could have on the outlook of the neighbouring 
property; although not strictly part of the LPA's policies, the applicant has demonstrated the 
45-degree line of sight from the closest rear elevation window of the neighbouring property, 
indicating that the outlook from the rear elevation will not be impacted through this proposal.

Due to the solar orientation of the proposed extensions in relation to the dwellinghouse and 
property at no. 3, the impact on sunlight and daylight access into this neighbouring property 
will be minimal as a result of the single storey additions. Particularly noting that despite the 
side and rear protrusion of 3 metres into the rear garden, any impact of this on sunlight 
access would likely be restricted to summer evenings where the level of sunlight is lower. 
The applicant has also demonstrated that the level of sunlight, daylight and natural light that 
is currently received by the windows on the flank elevation of no. 3 that face this property 
will not change as a result of the proposal.

The windows proposed to be included in the flank elevation are shown to be obscure glazed 
and therefore will not afford a greater level of overlooking and a loss of privacy experienced 
by no. 3 Sunset View. A condition has been imposed to ensure these are obscure glazed.

As the property is located on a corner site, all other surrounding residential properties are 
considered to be sufficiently removed from the additions, rendering any impact on residential 
amenity negligible.

For the abovementioned reasons, the impact of the proposed extensions on the residential 
amenity of surrounding properties will be acceptable.

Character and Street Scene

The Council's SPD 'Residential Design Guidance' states that extensions should normally be 
subordinate to the original house, respect the original building and should not be overly 
dominant.  Additionally, as the site sits within the conservation area, regard must be given 
to the wider impact of the proposal on the character of the surrounding area. 

Sunset View lies on the eastern end of the Monken Hadley Conservation Area. It is noted 
that the street did not form part of the original Conservation Area and it was included at a 
later stage through extensions to the boundary of the conservation area. Sunset View 
benefits from a varied architectural styles and values. The properties along this stretch of 
land are different variations on arts and crafts themes and present a well-established 
character for Sunset View.  It is noted that the properties are originally detached and tend 
to benefit from large gaps to neighbouring flank walls at first floor. This is mainly identified 
along the properties on the northern end of Sunset View.  The relationship between the north 
facing properties allows for favourable views of the existing Green Belt and the Old Ford 
Manor Golf Course. It must be noted that there are no Statutory or locally listed buildings 
along Sunset View

With regards to the impact this proposal could have on the conservation area, it is stressed 
that policy DM06 seeks to preserve and enhance sites within the conservation area. Through 
the removal of the polycarbonate side access structures, the proposed scheme is 
considered to result in an improved aesthetic design on the subject site and thereby 
improving the contribution this building makes to the wider conservation area. . It is noted 

35



that the proposed side extension at ground floor will not increase the width of the property 
towards the adjoining premises, as perceived from the street scene, thus maintaining the 
established gaps between the properties with views in an out of site. Additionally, through 
the removal of the existing polycarbonate covered side access on the subject site, the sense 
of openness and the gaps between the subject building and the building at 3 Sunset View 
will be improved.

The proposed side and rear extension will extend the entire depth of the existing host 
building, to square off the rear of the host building and will replace the existing conservatory 
extension on the rear elevation. The proposed single storey additions are considered 
moderate and subordinate addition to the host property and not considered to detract from 
the character and appearance of the property. Furthermore, it is noted that planning 
permission has been granted for a glazed rear extension at no. 14 Sunset View under 
reference no. 17/3744/HSE and whilst smaller in depth, a full width rear extension was 
granted at 9 Sunset View under reference no. B/02382/13. As such, it is noted that this area 
of the conservation area has several examples of rear extensions to properties, including 
those that can be seen from the golf course, and therefore the principle of such an extension 
in this immediate context is considered acceptable.

It is appreciated that the proposal includes a greater level of glazing along the rear elevation 
of the extension in comparison to the current rear elevation through the introduction of three 
sets of bi-folding doors; however, particular effort has been made to use a fenestration 
panelling to compliment the character of the existing building.

As the site adjoins the Old Ford Manor Golf Course, it is appreciated that there are views of 
the rear elevation from this space; however, this is not a public view point. Irrespective of 
the status of ownership of the golf course, the proposed extensions are considered 
sufficiently subordinate from the host building and have been designed to have an 
acceptable impact on the host building and the character of the conservation area, in 
addition to being designed in accordance with residential design guidance. 
With regards to materials, the applicant has confirmed that the proposed materials will match 
the character and appearance of the existing property. It is noted that the proposed windows 
and doors are to be uPVC; although this is not a traditional material within a conservation 
area, it has been observed that several properties along Sunset View have replaced the 
original timber windows with uPVC windows, and it is further noted that the subject building 
currently includes uPVC windows and therefore this proposal would not be introducing a 
new material, nor would this be out of character for the wider conservation area. 
Notwithstanding this, a condition has been attached to ensure that the details of the 
materials to be used have been approved by the Local Planning Authority in order to 
safeguard the character and visual amenities of the site and the wider conservation area.  

For the abovementioned reasons, the proposal is considered to have an acceptable impact 
on the character of the host building, the street scene and the wider conservation area.

5.4 Response to Public Consultation

The above planning assessment has given regard to the matters raised by objections and 
representations. The following comments are made in addition to the assessment above:
 
- Object to the loss of the arts and crafts fenestration to the existing conservatory 

The conservatory does not form part of the original building, and therefore the loss of this is 
not considered to impact the conservation area or the original fabric of the building.

36



- The drawing fails to honour that new windows will be similar in appearance and no 
detail has been given around this matter

This is a matter that has been addressed above with respect to fenestration design and 
materiality. However, to emphasise it is considered reasonable to impose a condition 
requiring samples of materials to be submitted to the LPA for approval prior to works 
commencing.

- The property is subject to more stringent guidelines due to its location within the 
conservation area (p45, 8.1)

The more stringent guidance is with respect to the character of the building and additions 
within the conservation area; i.e. being another matter to be considered, however, the 
residential design guidance still holds weight in assessing the impact of a proposal on the 
residential amenity of a neighbouring property. As discussed above, the impact of the 
proposal is considered acceptable on all accounts.

- If the scheme is allowed, the opportunity to have this property added to the Council's 
Schedule of Buildings of Local Architectural or Historic Interest will be lost

This is not a material planning consideration, as the proposal must be assessed under the 
current planning context and framework and the LPA cannot assess the impact a proposal 
could have on the potential of a future listing, but rather must assess the impact of the 
proposal as has been done previously in this report.

6. Equality and Diversity Issues

The proposal does not conflict with either Barnet Council's Equalities Policy or the 
commitments set in the Equality Scheme and supports the Council in meeting its statutory 
equality responsibilities.

7. Conclusion

Having taken all material considerations into account, it is considered that subject to 
compliance with the attached conditions, the proposed development would have an 
acceptable impact on the character and appearance of the application site, the street scene 
and the locality. The development is not considered to have an adverse impact on the 
amenities of neighbouring occupiers. This application is therefore recommended for 
approval.

37



38



Location The TVR Centre 129 Barnet Road Barnet EN5 3LJ  

Reference: 18/1611/S73 Received: 13th March 2018
Accepted: 13th March 2018

Ward: High Barnet Expiry 8th May 2018

Applicant: Mr M Theodhori

Proposal:

Variation to condition 1 (Opening Hours) pursuant to appeal ref 
APP/N5090/C/15/3008963 dated 20/10/2015 

Recommendation: Approve subject to conditions

AND the Committee grants delegated authority to the Service Director of Planning and 
Building Control of Strategic Planning to make any minor alterations, additions or deletions 
to the recommended conditions/obligations or reasons for refusal as set out in this report 
and addendum provided this authority shall be exercised after consultation with the 
Chairman (or in his absence the Vice- Chairman) of the Committee (who may request that 
such alterations, additions or deletions be first approved by the Committee)

 1 The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the 
following approved plans: 

- Existing Block and Site Location Plan

Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning and so as 
to ensure that the development is carried out fully in accordance with the plans as 
assessed in accordance with Policies CS NPPF and CS1 of the Local Plan Core 
Strategy DPD (adopted September 2012) and Policy DM01 of the Local Plan 
Development Management Policies DPD (adopted September 2012).

 2 The hours of operation of the car wash, for a temporary period of 9 months from the 
date of this decision notice, shall be:

09:00am to 18:00pm Mondays to Fridays;
09:00am to 18:00pm on Saturdays; and,
10:00am to 15:00pm on Sundays, Public or Bank Holidays.

Upon expiry of the temporary period, the car wash hours shall be reverted back to 
the following original hours:

08.00am - 17.00pm Monday - Friday (inclusive);
39

AGENDA ITEM 9



09.00am - 16.00pm Saturday and
10.00am - 14.00pm  on Sundays, Public or Bank Holidays.
 
Reason: In order that the position may be reviewed at the end of the period stated.

 3 a) Within 6 weeks of the date of this decision notice, a noise management plan 
detailing best practice to minimise noise disturbance from the car wash use shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.

The management plan shall contain the following measures and details:
-Vendors should be asked to turn off their vehicle engines when the vehicle is not in 
use
-No idling should be allowed on site
-Vendors should be asked to keep the volume down to a level where it is unlikely to 
disturb neighbours
-There should be no events of live and unamplified live music taking place
-Music should not be played in the car wash area (this includes music from a stereo; 
hi-fi, radio, sound system; etc)
-Equipment should be maintained and serviced in accordance with manufacturer's 
specifications.
-Log book should be kept on site for complaints

b)  The development shall be implemented in accordance with such details as 
approved.

Reason: To safeguard the amenities of the locality and prevent disturbance to 
existing and future occupants thereof and in accordance with Policies CS9 of the 
Core Strategy (2012) and DM01, DM04 and DM17 of the Development Management 
Policies (2012).

 4 Within 3 months of the date of this decision notice, a detailed external lighting scheme 
in connection with the car wash use, including siting of lighting columns, a site plan 
with lux lines, and the hours of operation shall be submitted to and approved in writing 
by the Local Planning Authority. The development shall be implemented in 
accordance with such details as approved.

Reason: To safeguard the visual amenities of the locality and prevent disturbance to 
existing and future occupants thereof and to ensure the free flow of vehicular and 
pedestrian traffic and security of the site in accordance with Policies CS9 of the Core 
Strategy (2012) and DM01, DM04 and DM17 of the Development Management 
Policies (2012).

Informative(s):

40



 1 In accordance with paragraphs 38-57 of the NPPF, the Local Planning Authority 
(LPA) takes a positive and proactive approach to development proposals, focused on 
solutions. The LPA has produced planning policies and written guidance to assist 
applicants when submitting applications. These are all available on the Council's 
website. The LPA has negotiated with the applicant/agent where necessary during 
the application process to ensure that the proposed development is in accordance 
with the Development Plan

41



Officer’s Assessment

1. Site Description

The site lies on the south side of a busy main road. On adjacent land to the east of the site 
is a vacant garden nursery and to the west a row of detached residential dwellings which 
face onto the main road. A terrace of cottages in Glebe Lane back onto part of the western 
boundary. The site is partly within the Metropolitan Green Belt.  

The site is physically separate from surrounding land and its boundaries clearly delineated. 
It is physically and functionally separate from its surroundings and comprises a separate 
planning unit. A series of workshop type units provide various car repair services and 
facilities. A certificate of lawfulness has been granted for use of the appeal site as existing 
car repair and servicing garage for repairs, servicing and MOTs.

The car wash operates in the south east corner of the site, taking place under three 
canopies. The car wash activities are located some distance from the nearest residential 
dwellings and other noise producing activities exist on the site, many nearer to the dwellings 
than the car wash.

2. Site History

There is no specific planning history in relation to the car wash function on site. This has 
been deemed an acceptable, lawful use by the Planning Inspectorate - subject to conditions 
- in an appeal made by the applicant against a Planning Enforcement notice served by the 
Local Planning Authority.

There are a number of other operators on site, including an existing car repair and servicing 
garage for repairs, servicing and MOTs. These uses have been granted planning permission 
and more recently certified lawful under the following applications:

N00785 - Erection of car store, office and service bay. - Approved: 05.12.1966

B/04107/14 - Use of the existing car repair and servicing garage for car repairs, servicing 
and MOTs - Lawful: 26.09.2014

3. Proposal

Following the Appeal Inspector's decision to allow the enforcement notice appeal to 
succeed, thereby granting conditional planning permission in accordance with the 
application deemed to have been made (i.e. the Lawful Development Certificate application, 
under B/04107/14, dated: 26.09.2014) under 177(5) of the 1990 of the Town and Country 
Planning Act (as amended), the following condition was prescribed:

The premises shall not be open to customers outside the following hours:

08.00 - 17.00 Monday - Friday (inclusive);
09.00 - 16.00 Saturday; and,
10.00 - 14.00 Sunday and Bank Holidays.

This application seeks to vary the above condition, to extend the prescribed hours. Initially 
the applicant applied for the hours of:

42



0900 - 1900, seven days a week.

Taking account of the previous Appeal Inspector's comments and subsequent discussions 
with Environmental Health, Officers considered these operating hours to be unacceptable, 
with a certain risk of nuisance to the neighbouring residential occupiers. However, through 
constructive discussions, Officers agreed a variation of the permitted hours of operation with 
the applicant for following:

09:00 - 18:00 Monday - Friday (inclusive)
09:00 - 18:00 Saturday; and,
10:00 - 15:00 Sunday and Bank Holidays

4. Public Consultation

Consultation letters were sent to 31 neighbouring properties.
129 responses have been received, comprising 30 letters of objection, 98 letters of support 
and 1 letter of representation. 

MP Rt Hon Theresa Villiers has written in support of her constituents objecting against the 
proposed change of operating hours.

The objections and representations received can be summarised as follows:

- The car wash is very noisy and can be heard from the neighbouring gardens, preventing 
the enjoyment of private amenity space
- The car wash was previously denied permission by the LPA, but allowed on appeal of the 
enforcement notice, without any consultation
- The car wash causes traffic congestion on the main road which is a risk to pedestrian and 
motorist safety
- Constant noise from traffic queueing
- The listed comparative car wash establishments are not comparative as they are not sited 
within a semi-rural area
- The distance from the car wash to the objector's garden is reported incorrectly - it is much 
closer in reality
- The site has flood lights which are kept on at all times and shine into the windows of the 
objector's property 24hrs per day
- The car wash already operates outside of its permitted hours.
- The noise from the car wash can be heard from within the neighbour's house
- The car wash has de-valued the neighbouring properties
- The location of the business is inappropriate, the land is green belt.
- The majority of comments made in support of the application are from people who have 
their car washed at the premises, as opposed to live in the area.
- London Borough of Barnet should have closed down the establishment due to ongoing non 
compliance
- The car wash is an eyesore
- It is scandalous that Barnet Council are considering this application a Planning Inspector 
has adjudicated on an appeal sought by the owner of the site which clearly stipulates the 
operating hours of the car wash.
- It is a business and is clearly seeking to profit at the expense of the nuisance it causes to 
local residents.

43



- The Planning Inspectors' comments that the car wash "is likely to cause undue harm to the 
living conditions of nearby residents outside normal working hours".
- By operating outside of the stipulated hours the car wash has generated a demand for an 
out of hours service and has created a perception that a restriction is being imposed. 
- The comparison with the opening times of other businesses on the site is inaccurate if the 
published information about two of the main businesses on site (Murphys Motors and AZ 
Motorcycles) is taken into account. Both of these businesses publish information showing 
that the former is closed on Saturday afternoons and both closed on Sundays.
- The inspector stated that "I do accept that the site, may give rise to unacceptable noise at 
times when other businesses are closed. This will prolong the period during which residents 
may be disturbed, including Sundays when car washing may be in demand and background 
noise levels lower than during the working week. I therefore conclude that the car wash….is 
likely to cause undue harm to the living conditions of nearby residents outside normal 
working hours."
- The current business causes civil conflict between the operator and neighbouring 
residential occupiers

5. Planning Considerations

5.1 Policy Context

National Planning Policy Framework and National Planning Practice Guidance

The determination of planning applications is made mindful of Central Government advice 
and the Local Plan for the area. It is recognised that Local Planning Authorities must 
determine applications in accordance with the statutory Development Plan, unless material 
considerations indicate otherwise, and that the planning system does not exist to protect the 
private interests of one person against another. 

The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) was published on 27 March 2012. This is 
a key part of the Governments reforms to make the planning system less complex and more 
accessible, and to promote sustainable growth.

The NPPF states that 'good design is a key aspect of sustainable development, is indivisible 
from good planning, and should contribute positively to making places better for people'. 
The NPPF retains a presumption in favour of sustainable development. This applies unless 
any adverse impacts of a development would 'significantly and demonstrably' outweigh the 
benefits.

Planning law requires that applications for planning permission be determined in accordance 
with the development plan, unless material considerations indicate otherwise. The revised 
National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) was published on 24th July 2018. This is a key 
part of the Governments reforms to make the planning system less complex and more 
accessible, and to promote sustainable growth. It is a material consideration in planning 
decisions. Similar material considerations are the Government's planning policy for traveller 
sites, and its planning policy for waste as well as Written Ministerial Statements where 
relevant to planning decisions. 

Existing policies in Barnet's Local Plan (2012) and the London Plan (2016) should not be 
considered out-of-date simply because they were adopted prior to the publication of the 
revised NPPF. Due weight should be given to them, according to their degree of consistency 
with the revised NPPF

44



The Mayor's London Plan 2016

The London Development Plan is the overall strategic plan for London, and it sets out a fully 
integrated economic, environmental, transport and social framework for the development of 
the capital to 2050. It forms part of the development plan for Greater London and is 
recognised in the NPPF as part of the development plan. 

The London Plan provides a unified framework for strategies that are designed to ensure 
that all Londoners benefit from sustainable improvements to their quality of life.

The London Plan is currently under review. Whilst capable of being a material consideration, 
at this early stage very limited weight should be attached to the Draft London Plan. Although 
this weight will increase as the Draft London Plan progresses to examination stage and 
beyond, applications should continue to be determined in accordance with the adopted 
London Plan

Barnet's Local Plan (2012)

Barnet's Local Plan is made up of a suite of documents including the Core Strategy and 
Development Management Policies Development Plan Documents. Both were adopted in 
September 2012.
- Relevant Core Strategy Policies: CS NPPF, CS1, CS5.
- Relevant Development Management Policies: DM01, DM02, DM04.

The Council's approach to extensions as set out in Policy DM01 is to minimise their impact 
on the local environment and to ensure that occupiers of new developments as well as 
neighbouring occupiers enjoy a high standard of amenity. Policy DM01 states that all 
development should represent high quality design and should be designed to allow for 
adequate daylight, sunlight, privacy and outlook for adjoining occupiers. Policy DM02 states 
that where appropriate, development will be expected to demonstrate compliance to 
minimum amenity standards and make a positive contribution to the Borough. The 
development standards set out in Policy DM02 are regarded as key for Barnet to deliver the 
highest standards of urban design.

Supplementary Planning Documents

Sustainable Design and Construction SPD (adopted October 2016)
- Provides detailed guidance that supplements policies in the adopted Local Plan, and sets 
out how sustainable development will be delivered in Barnet.

5.2 Main issues for consideration

The main issues for consideration in this case are:

- Whether harm would be caused to the character and appearance of the existing building, 
the street scene and the wider locality;
- Whether harm would be caused to the living conditions of neighbouring residents.

5.3 Assessment of proposals

45



This application solely proposes a variation of a condition to change the hours of operating 
times prescribed by the Appeal Inspector, and thus there are no built physical forms 
proposed, and thus, no harm to the character and appearance of the application site, its 
vicinity, the wider locality or the openness of the Metropolitan Green Belt within which it sits. 
The impact of the car wash on the Green Belt is a matter that the Appeal Inspector 
addressed in the appeal decision, citing that the car wash use does not adversely affect the 
openness of the area. The Local Planning Authority acknowledge and accept this 
observation.

There are a range of existing lawful uses on the site (inclusive of car repair and servicing 
garage for repairs, servicing and MOTs) which are engaged in noisy activities relative to 
their established functions. The operating hours of these uses are not controlled by any 
planning conditions approved under planning permission referenced: N00785. 

It is understood that the car wash as one of these uses has the potential to cause statutory 
nuisance and annoyance to the neighbouring residential occupiers outside of normal 
working hours - as remarked by the Appeal Inspector - and Officers note that the majority of 
the objections received from neighbouring residents concerned the breach of current 
prescribed operating hours, noise disturbance from the car wash activities and light nuisance 
from the flood lights on site which are alleged to be left on 24 hours-a-day. Notwithstanding 
this, at present the Local Planning Authority (LPA) and Environmental Health (EH) have 
insufficient evidence to conclusively state that a minor extension to the hours of operation 
would demonstrably harm the residential amenities of the neighbouring occupiers over and 
above the existing operational hours.

The proposed operating hours of Mon-Fri: 09:00-18:00 / Sat: 09:00-18:00 / Sun & Bank Hol.: 
10:00-15:00 as amended  have been agreed with the applicant and EH officers would be 
supported on a temporary basis of 9 months to enable the LPA to properly monitor if there 
would be any adverse impacts resulting from the extended hours of use on the amenities of 
the neighbouring occupiers   

Officers considered these to be reasonable extension of hours in respect of both business 
operator and the neighbouring residents. Starting one hour later and closing one hour later 
in the weekdays is unlikely to be noticeable to the majority of residential occupiers, whom 
will leave and return from work around these times. For many people and businesses, 
Saturday is a full working day in which activity, even in semi-rural areas is to be expected, 
and therefore, it is not considered that an additional two hours of operation on this day of 
the week would be demonstrably harmful to the amenities of the neighbours. Sundays and 
Bank Holidays are acknowledged to be the most sensitive days, given the typical trading 
hours in most localities - and thus, one additional hour is considered the absolute maximum 
that could be agreed in order to minimise the potential disturbance of neighbouring 
occupiers.

It is considered that this temporary variation to the operating hours would enable both the 
Local Planning Authority and Environmental Health team to monitor the operation of the car 
wash business' over a reasonable timeframe and gather data from any complaints and their 
subsequent outcomes (e.g. warnings issued / enforcement notices for breaches of 
conditions and statutory nuisance) to inform any future decision-making on the longer-term 
hours of operation of the business. A noise management plan setting out the prescribed 
measures and practices (e.g. engines off when not required / no music or in-car radios etc) 
necessary in order to minimise the potential of disturbance to the neighbours is 
recommended as a planning condition to ensure that certain practices are specified and 
therefore enforceable. 

46



With respect to the existing flood lighting on site, this did not form part of the Appeal 
Inspector's assessment as the primary consideration was about determining the lawful use 
of the car wash operation and establishing its operating hours. Accordingly, the flood lighting 
is also not directly under consideration in this application as it relates to a variation of the 
hours of operation. Notwithstanding this, it is recognised that the operation of the car wash 
in the winter months may be dependent on the lighting and given the number of objections 
raised with regard to the flood lightings impact on neighbouring amenities it is considered 
both relevant and reasonable for Officers to recommend a planning condition prescribing 
the submission of further details on the setup and operation of the flood lighting specifically 
used in association with the car wash business to minimise potential light nuisance to 
neighbouring residential occupiers.

5.4 Response to Public Consultation

Officers have reviewed and considered the concerns raised through the public consultation 
process and addressed these where possible in the above Officer assessment of the 
scheme.

Other matters are addressed as follows:

- The Local Planning Authority with Environmental Health will use the temporary nature 
of the proposals to undertake monitoring the for the suggested period to check compliance 
and use it to inform any future decisions with respect to changes to the hours of operation. 
The NPPF is clear on ensuring that that planning uses are sustainable and that decisions 
made should ensure that economic, environmental and social objectives of the overarching 
strategy should be balanced to enable a desirable outcome where these uses are 
compatible without unacceptable impacts to either. Should it be substantiated over the 
monitoring period that unacceptable harm is being caused to neighbouring residential 
occupiers then it is only fair and reasonable in the aims of sustainability to not allow any 
future harmful circumstances in any future applications made.

- Civil disputes between parties (business operator and residents) are not a material 
planning consideration and therefore outside the scope of consideration for this assessment.

6. Equality and Diversity Issues

The proposal does not conflict with either Barnet Council's Equalities Policy or the 
commitments set in the Equality Scheme and supports the Council in meeting its statutory 
equality responsibilities.

7. Conclusion

Having taken all material considerations into account, it is considered that subject to 
compliance with the attached conditions, the proposed development would have an 
acceptable impact on the character and appearance of the application site, the street scene 
and the locality. The development is not considered to have an adverse impact on the 
amenities of neighbouring occupiers. This application is therefore recommended for 
approval for a temporary period of 9 months for the reasons outlined in the above appraisal.

47



48



Location The Minstrel Boy 156 Colney Hatch Lane London N10 1ER  

Reference: 18/3529/FUL Received: 6th June 2018
Accepted: 7th June 2018

Ward: Coppetts Expiry 2nd August 2018

Applicant: Mr I Ozkan

Proposal:

Demolition of the existing building and erection of a part three, part four 
storey building plus basement level, comprising 200sqm of flexible Class 
A1/A2/A3/A4 commercial use at ground floor level and 9 no. self-contained 
residential dwellings (Use Class C3) above. Associated parking, cycle store, 
refuse and recycling

Recommendation: Approve subject to conditions

AND the Committee grants delegated authority to the Head of Development Management 
or Head of Strategic Planning to make any minor alterations, additions or deletions to the 
recommended conditions/obligations or reasons for refusal as set out in this report and 
addendum provided this authority shall be exercised after consultation with the Chairman 
(or in his absence the Vice- Chairman) of the Committee (who may request that such 
alterations, additions or deletions be first approved by the Committee)

 1 The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the 
following approved plans: 

- Existing Location Plan (495.(1).0.000)
- Existing Block Plan (495.(1).0.001)
- Existing Roof Plan (495.(1).0.002)
- Existing Colney Hatch Lane Elevation (495.(1).0.003)
- Existing Sydney Road Elevation (495.(1).0.004)
- Existing North East Elevation (495.(1).0.005)

- Proposed Location Plan (495.(1).1.000 Rev. B)
- Proposed Block Plan (495.(1).1.001 Rev. B)
- Proposed Basement Floor Plan (495.(1).1.002 Rev. D)
- Proposed Ground Floor Plan (495.(1).1.003 Rev. G)
- Proposed First Floor Plan (495.(1).1.004 Rev. D)
- Proposed Second Floor Plan (495.(1).1.005 Rev. E)
- Proposed Third Floor Plan (495.(1).1.006 Rev. E)
- Proposed Roof Plan (495.(1).1.007 Rev. E)
- Proposed Colney Hatch Lane Elevation (495.(1).2.001 Rev. A)
- Proposed Sydney Road Elevation (495.(1).2.002 Rev. B)
- Proposed Sectional Elevation A (495.(1).2.003 Rev. B)
- Proposed Sectional Elevation B (495.(1).2.004 Rev. A)
- Proposed Section C (495.(1).3.001 Rev. B)
- Proposed Section D (495.(1).3.002 Rev. B)
- Proposed Section E (495.(1).3.003)

49

AGENDA ITEM 10



- Air Quality Assessment (Syntegra - Ref: 18-3295, June 2018)
- Block Compliance Worksheet (04 April 2018)
- BRUKL Output Document (23 May 2018)
- Energy Statement (T16 - 2693 - April 2018)
- Sustainability Statement (T16 - 2693 - April 2018)
- Transport Assessment (EAS - May 2018)
- Daylight and Sunlight Assessment (T16 - 2693 - April 2018)

Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning and so 
as to ensure that the development is carried out fully in accordance with the plans 
as assessed in accordance with Policies CS NPPF and CS1 of the Local Plan Core 
Strategy DPD (adopted September 2012) and Policy DM01 of the Local Plan 
Development Management Policies DPD (adopted September 2012).

 2 This development must be begun within three years from the date of this 
permission.

Reason: To comply with Section 51 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 
2004.

 3 a) No development shall take place until details of the levels of the building(s), 
road(s) and footpath(s) in relation to the adjoining land and highway(s) and any 
other changes proposed in the levels of the site have been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.

b) The development shall thereafter be implemented in accordance with the details 
as approved under this condition and retained as such thereafter.

Reason: To ensure that the development is carried out at suitable levels in relation 
to the highway and adjoining land having regard to drainage, gradient of access, the 
safety and amenities of users of the site, the amenities of the area and the health of 
any trees or vegetation in accordance with policies CS NPPF, CS1, CS5 and CS7 
of the Local Plan Core Strategy (adopted September 2012), Policies DM01, DM04 
and DM17 of the Development Management Policies DPD (adopted September 
2012), and Policies 7.4, 7.5, 7.6 and 7.21 of the London Plan 2016.

 4 a) No development other than demolition works shall take place until details of the 
materials to be used for the external surfaces of the building and hard surfaced 
areas hereby approved have been submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority.

b) The development shall thereafter be implemented in accordance with the 
materials as approved under this condition.

Reason: To safeguard the character and visual amenities of the site and wider area 
and to ensure that the building is constructed in accordance with Policies CS NPPF 
and CS1 of the Local Plan Core Strategy (adopted September 2012), Policy DM01 
of the Development Management Policies DPD (adopted September 2012) and 
Policies 1.1, 7.4, 7.5 and 7.6 of the London Plan 2016.

 5 Before the development hereby permitted is occupied the car parking spaces and 
the access to the parking area as shown on Drawing Nos. 495. (1).1.002 Rev. D, 

50



495. (1).1.003 Rev. G, shall be provided and shall not be used for any purpose 
other than parking of vehicles in connection with the approved development.

Reason: To ensure that adequate and satisfactory provision is made for the parking 
of vehicles in the interests of pedestrian and highway safety and the free flow of 
traffic in accordance with London Borough of Barnet's Local Plan Policy CS9 of 
Core Strategy (Adopted) September 2012 and Policy DM17 of Development 
Management Policies (Adopted) September 2012.

 6 a) Before the development hereby permitted is first occupied cycle parking spaces 
and cycle storage facilities shall be provided in accordance with a scheme to be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 

b) The development shall thereafter be implemented in accordance with the details 
as approved under this condition and the spaces shall be permanently retained 
thereafter.

Reason: To ensure that cycle parking facilities are provided in accordance with the 
minimum standards set out in Policy 6.9 and Table 6.3 of The London Plan (2016) 
and in the interests of promoting cycling as a mode of transport in accordance with 
London Borough of Barnet's Local Plan Policy CS9 of Core Strategy (Adopted) 
September 2012 and Policy DM17 of Development Management Policies (Adopted) 
September 2012.

 7 Prior to occupation of the development hereby approved, the electric vehicle 
charging points within the parking area shown in drawing no. 495.(1).1.002 Rev. D 
shall be provided and thereafter maintained as such.

Reason: To ensure that the development makes adequate provision for electric 
vehicle charging points to encourage the use of electric vehicles in accordance with 
policy 6.13 of the London Plan. 

 8 Prior to the occupation of the development, a Maintenance Agreement for the 
operation of the traffic light system for the ramped access and the electronic gates 
shall be submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority and shall not be 
carried out nor shall it be subsequently operated other than in accordance with the 
approved details.

Reason:  In the interests of highway safety in accordance with London Borough of 
Barnet's Local Plan Policy CS9 of Core Strategy (Adopted) September 2012 and 
Policy DM17 of Development Management Policies (Adopted) September 2012.

 9 Prior to the first occupation of the building hereby approved, details of the 
electronically operated gate providing access to the basement level car park and 
the means of remote access shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority.

Reason:  In the interests of highway safety in accordance with London Borough of 
Barnet's Local Plan Policy CS9 of Core Strategy (Adopted) September 2012 and 
Policy DM17 of Development Management Policies (Adopted) September 2012.

51



10 Notwithstanding the vehicular access ramp details submitted with the planning 
application, the gradient of the proposed ramp access to the underground parking 
area should not exceed 1:10 otherwise the ramp shall be constructed in accordance 
with the guidelines in Institute of Structural Engineers Design recommendations for 
multi-storey and underground car parks. 

Reason: To ensure highway safety in accordance with London Borough of Barnet's 
Local Plan Policy CS9 of Core Strategy (Adopted) September 2012 and Policy 
DM17 of Development Management Policies (Adopted) September 2012.

11 Notwithstanding the information submitted a Demolition and Construction 
Management and Logistics Plan shall be submitted and no site works or works on 
this development including demolition or construction work shall commence until a 
Demolition and Construction Management and Logistics Plan has been submitted 
to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 

The development shall thereafter be implemented in full accordance with the details 
approved under this plan. The Demolition and Construction Management and 
Logistics Plan submitted shall include, but not be limited to, the following 
information: 

i. details of the routing of construction vehicles to the site, hours of access, 
access and egress arrangements within the site and security procedures;
ii. site preparation and construction stages of the development;
iii. details of provisions for recycling of materials, the provision on site of a 
storage/delivery area for all plant, site huts, site facilities and materials;
iv. details showing how all vehicles associated with the construction works are 
properly washed and cleaned to prevent the passage to mud and dirt onto the 
adjoining highway;
v. the methods to be used and the measures to be undertaken to control the 
emission of dust, noise and vibration arising from construction works;
vi. a suitable and efficient means of suppressing dust, including the adequate 
containment of stored or accumulated material so as to prevent it becoming 
airborne at any time and giving rise to nuisance;
vii. noise mitigation measures for all plant and processors;
viii. details of contractor's compound and car parking arrangements;
ix. Details of interim car parking management arrangements for the duration of 
construction; 
x. Details of a community liaison contact for the duration of all works associated 
with the development;
xi. Provision of a competent banksman;
xii.      Means of temporary enclosure or security hoarding.

Reason: To ensure that the proposed development does not prejudice the 
amenities of occupiers of adjoining residential properties and in the interests of 
highway and pedestrian safety in accordance with policies CS9, CS13, CS14, 
DM01, DM04 and DM17 of the Barnet Local Plan and polices 5.3, 5.18, 7.14 and 
7.15 of the London Plan.

12 No works on public highway as a result of the proposed development shall be 
carried out until detailed design drawings have been submitted and approved by the 
Highway Authority and works shall only be carried out in accordance with the 
approved plans.  

52



The applicant will be expected to enter into with the Highways Authority under 
Section 278 Agreement of the Highways Act, for works affecting public highway 
including creation of new accesses and reinstatement of the existing accesses and 
consequential damage to public highway as a result of the proposed development. 

Reason:   To ensure that the works on public highway are carried out to the 
satisfaction of the highway authority in the interest of highway safety in accordance 
with London Borough of Barnet's Local Plan Policy CS9 of Core Strategy (Adopted) 
September 2012 and Policy DM17 of Development Management Policies (Adopted) 
September 2012.

13 Prior to installation, details of the boilers shall be forwarded to the Local Planning 
Authority for approval. The boilers shall have dry NOx emissions not exceeding 40 
mg/kWh (0%). 

Reason: To comply with the London Plan's SPG on Sustainable Design and 
Construction(adopted October 2016) and Policy 7.14 of the London Plan (2011) in 
relation to air quality.

14 a) A scheme for air pollution mitigation measures based on the findings of the report 
submitted by Syntegra Consulting Ref 18-3295 shall be submitted to and approved 
by the Local Planning Authority prior to development. This shall include mitigation 
for when air quality neutral transport and building assessments do not meet the 
benchmarks.

b) The approved mitigation scheme shall be implemented in its entirety in 
accordance with details approved under this condition before any of the 
development is first occupied or the use commences and retained as such 
thereafter.

Reason: To ensure that the amenities of occupiers are protected from the poor air 
quality in the vicinity in accordance with Policy DM04 of the Development 
Management Policies DPD (adopted September 2012), the Sustainable Design and 
Construction SPD (adopted October 2016) and Policies 3.2, 5.3 and 7.14 of the 
London Plan 2011.

15 a) No development other than demolition works shall take place until details of all 
extraction and ventilation equipment to be installed as part of the development, 
including a technical report have been submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority. The equipment shall be installed using anti-vibration 
mounts. The report shall include all calculations and baseline data, and be set out 
so that the Local Planning Authority can fully audit the report and critically analyse 
the content and recommendations.

b) The development shall be implemented in accordance with details approved 
under this condition before first occupation or the use is commenced and retained 
as such thereafter.

Reason: To ensure a satisfactory appearance for the development and satisfactory 
accessibility; and to protect the amenities of the area in accordance with Policy 

53



DM04 of the Development Management Policies DPD (adopted September 2012) 
and Policy CS13 of the Local Plan Core Strategy (adopted September 2012).

16 The level of noise emitted from the plant hereby approved shall be at least 5dB(A) 
below the background level, as measured from any point 1 metre outside the 
window of any room of a neighbouring residential property.

If the noise emitted has a distinguishable, discrete continuous note (whine, hiss, 
screech, hum) and/or distinct impulse (bangs, clicks, clatters, thumps), then it shall 
be at least 10dB(A) below the background level, as measured from any point 1 
metre outside the window of any room of a neighbouring residential property.

Reason: To ensure that the proposed development does not prejudice the 
amenities of occupiers of neighbouring properties in accordance with Policies DM04 
of the Development Management Policies DPD (adopted September 2012) and 
7.15 of the London Plan 2015.

17 a) No development other than demolition works shall take place until a details of 
mitigation measures to show how the development will be constructed/adapted so 
as to provide sufficient air borne and structure borne sound insulation against 
internally/externally generated noise and vibration has been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.

This sound insulation shall ensure that the levels of noise generated from the **** 
as measured within habitable rooms of the development shall be no higher than 
35dB(A) from 7am to 11pm and 30dB(A) in bedrooms from 11pm to 7am.

The report shall include all calculations and baseline data, and be set out so that 
the Local Planning Authority can fully audit the report and critically analyse the 
content and recommendations.

b) The mitigation measures as approved under this condition shall be implemented 
in their entirety prior to the commencement of the use or first occupation of the 
development and retained as such thereafter.

Reason: To ensure that the proposed development does not prejudice the 
amenities of occupiers of the residential properties in accordance with Policies 
DM04 of the Development Management Policies DPD (adopted September 2012), 
the Sustainable Design and Construction SPD, and 7.15 of the London Plan 2015.

18 a) Prior to their first installation, a detailed assessment for the kitchen extraction 
unit, which assesses the likely impacts of odour and smoke on the neighbouring 
properties is carried out by an approved consultant. This fully detailed assessment 
shall indicate the measures to be used to control and minimise odour and smoke to 
address its findings and should include some or all of the following: grease filters, 
carbon filters, odour neutralization and electrostatic precipitators (ESP). The 
equipment shall be installed using anti-vibration mounts. It should clearly show the 
scheme in a scale diagram and shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority

b) The development shall be implemented in accordance with details approved 
under this condition before first occupation or the use is commenced and retained 
as such thereafter.

54



Reason: To ensure that the amenities of the neighbouring occupiers are not 
prejudiced odour and smoke in the immediate surroundings in accordance with 
policies DM01 of the Development Management Policies DPD (adopted September 
2012) and Policy CS14 of the Local Plan Core Strategy (adopted 2012).

19 a) A scheme of hard and soft landscaping, including details of the size, species, 
planting heights, densities and positions of any soft landscaping, shall be submitted 
to and agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority before the development 
hereby permitted is commenced, except for demolition works.

b) All work comprised in the approved scheme of landscaping shall be carried out 
before the end of the first planting and seeding season following occupation of any 
part of the buildings or completion of the development, whichever is sooner, or 
commencement of the use.

c) Any trees or shrubs to be planted as part of the approved landscaping scheme 
which are removed, die, become severely damaged or diseased within five years of 
the completion of development shall be replaced with trees or shrubs of appropriate 
size and species in the next planting season.

Reason: To ensure a satisfactory appearance to the development in accordance 
with Policies CS5 and CS7 of the Local Plan Core Strategy DPD (adopted 
September 2012), Policy DM01 of the Development Management Policies DPD 
(adopted September 2012), the Sustainable Design and Construction SPD 
(adopted October 2016) and 7.21 of the London Plan 2016.

20 a) Notwithstanding the details submitted with the application and otherwise hereby 
approved, prior to the buildings first occupation details of (i) A Refuse and Recycling 
Collection Strategy, which includes details of the collection arrangements and 
whether or not refuse and recycling collections would be carried out by the Council 
or an alternative service provider, (ii) Details of the enclosures, screened facilities 
and internal areas of the proposed building to be used for the storage of recycling 
containers, wheeled refuse bins and any other refuse storage containers where 
applicable, and (iii) Plans showing satisfactory points of collection for refuse and 
recycling, have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority.

b) The development shall be implemented and the refuse and recycling facilities 
provided in full accordance with the information approved under this condition 
before the development is first occupied and the development shall be managed in 
accordance with the information approved under this condition in perpetuity once 
occupation of the site has commenced.

Reason: To ensure a satisfactory appearance for the development and satisfactory 
accessibility; and to protect the amenities of the area in accordance with Policy 
CS14 of the Local Plan Core Strategy (adopted September 2012), Policy DM01 of 
the Development Management Policies DPD (adopted September 2012) and the 
Sustainable Design and Construction SPD (adopted April 2013).

21 a) No development other than demolition work shall take place unless and until a 
Drainage Strategy detailing all drainage works to be carried out in respect of the 
development herby approved and all Sustainable Urban Drainage System features 

55



to be included in the scheme has been submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority.

b) The development herby approved shall not be first occupied or brought into use 
until the drainage works and Sustainable Urban Drainage System features 
approved under this condition have been implemented in their entirety.

Reason: To ensure that the development provides appropriate drainage 
infrastructure and to comply with Policy CS13 of the Local Plan Core Strategy 
(adopted September 2012), the Sustainable Design and Construction SPD 
(adopted April 2013) and Policies 5.13 and 5.14 of the London Plan 2015.

22 The ground floor premises shall be used as A1, A2, A3, A4 and for no other 
purpose (including any other purpose in Class A of the Schedule to the Town and 
Country Planning (Use Classes) Order, 1987, or in any provision equivalent to that 
Class in any statutory instrument revoking and re-enacting that Order with or 
without modification).

Reason: To enable the Local Planning Authority to exercise control of the type of 
use within the category in order to safeguard the amenities of the area.

23 Prior to the first occupation of the ground floor A1, A2, A3 or A4 use hereby 
permitted, hours of use shall be submitted to and agreed in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. 

Reason: To safeguard the amenities of occupiers of adjoining residential properties.

24 The development shall not be occupied until disabled parking spaces have been 
provided and clearly marked with a British Standard disabled symbol in accordance 
with the details shown on drawing no. 495.(1).1.002 Rev. D. The disabled parking 
spaces shall then permanently retained for the use of disabled persons and their 
vehicles and for no other purpose.

Reason: To ensure and promote easier access for disabled persons within the 
development in accordance with London Borough of Barnet's Local Plan Policy CS9 
of the Core Strategy DPD and Policy DM17 of the Development Management 
Policies DPD.

25 a) No external lighting shall be installed and used in relation to the A1, A2, A3 or A4 
use at ground floor level until details of the appearance and luminance of the 
proposed lighting has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority.

b) The development shall thereafter be implemented in accordance with the 
materials as approved under this condition.

Reason: To safeguard the character and visual amenities of the site and wider area 
and to ensure that the building is constructed in accordance with Policies CS NPPF 
and CS1 of the Local Plan Core Strategy (adopted September 2012), Policy DM01 
of the Development Management Policies DPD (adopted September 2012) and 
Policies 1.1, 7.4, 7.5 and 7.6 of the London Plan 2015.

56



26 Prior to the first occupation of the units, copies of Pre-completion Sound Insulation 
Test Certificates shall be submitted to the Local Planning Authority, confirming 
compliance with Requirement E of the Building Regulations 2010 (or any 
subsequent amendment in force at the time of implementation of the permission).

Reason: To protect the amenities of future and neighbouring residential occupiers in 
accordance with Policies DM02 and DM04 of the Development Management 
Policies DPD (adopted September 2012) and the Sustainable Design and 
Construction SPD (adopted April 2013).

27 Notwithstanding the details shown in the drawings submitted and otherwise hereby 
approved, prior to the first occupation of the new dwellinghouse(s) (Use Class C3) 
permitted under this consent they shall all have been constructed to meet and 
achieve all the relevant criteria of Part M4(2) of Schedule 1 to the Building 
Regulations 2010 (or the equivalent standard in such measure of accessibility and 
adaptability for house design which may replace that scheme in future). The 
development shall be maintained as such in perpetuity thereafter.

Reason: To ensure the development meets the needs of its future occupiers and to 
comply with the requirements of Policies 3.5 and 3.8 of the March 2016 Minor 
Alterations to the London Plan and the 2016 Mayors Housing SPG.

28 No construction work resulting from the planning permission shall be carried out on 
the premises at any time on Sundays, Bank or Public Holidays, before 8.00 am or 
after 1.00 pm on Saturdays, or before 8.00 am or after 6.00 pm on other days.

Reason: To ensure that the proposed development does not prejudice the 
amenities of occupiers of adjoining residential properties in accordance with policy 
DM04 of the Development Management Policies DPD (adopted September 2012).

29 Provisions shall be made within the site to ensure that all vehicles associated with 
the construction of the development hereby approved are properly washed and 
cleaned to prevent the passage of mud and dirt onto the adjoining highway.

Reason: To ensure that the development does not cause danger and 
inconvenience to users of the adjoining pavement and highway.

30 Prior to the first occupation of the new dwellinghouse(s) (Use Class C3) hereby 
approved they shall all have been constructed to have 100% of the water supplied 
to them by the mains water infrastructure provided through a water meter or water 
meters and each new dwelling shall be constructed to include water saving and 
efficiency measures  that comply with Regulation 36(2)(b) of Part G 2 of the 
Building Regulations to ensure that a maximum of 105 litres of water is consumed 
per person per day with a fittings based approach should be used to determine the 
water consumption of the proposed development. The development shall be 
maintained as such in perpetuity thereafter.

Reason: To encourage the efficient use of water in accordance with policy CS13 of 
the Barnet Core Strategy (2012) and Policy 5.15 of the March 2016 Minor 
Alterations to the London Plan and the 2016 Mayors Housing SPG.

31 Prior to the first occupation of the development hereby approved it shall be 
constructed incorporating carbon dioxide emission reduction measures which 

57



achieve an improvement of not less than 35% in carbon dioxide emissions when 
compared to a building constructed to comply with the minimum Target Emission 
Rate requirements of the 2010 Building Regulations. The development shall be 
maintained as such in perpetuity thereafter.

Reason: To ensure that the development is sustainable and minimises carbon 
dioxide emissions and to comply with the requirements of policies DM01 and DM02 
of the Barnet Development Management Polices document (2012), Policies 5.2 and 
5.3 of the London Plan (2015) and the 2016 Mayors Housing SPG.

32 a) Before the development hereby permitted is first occupied, details of privacy 
measures to be implemented around the roof terraces shall be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.

b) The screens shall be installed in accordance with the details approved under this 
condition before first occupation or the use is commenced and retained as such 
thereafter.

Reason: To ensure that the development does not prejudice the amenity of future 
occupiers or the character of the area in accordance with policies DM01 and DM02 
of the Development Management Policies DPD (adopted September 2012), the 
Residential Design Guidance SPD (adopted April 2013) and the Sustainable Design 
and Construction SPD (adopted April 2013).

Informative(s):

 1 In accordance with paragraphs 186-187, 188-195 and 196-198 of the NPPF, the 
Local Planning Authority (LPA) takes a positive and proactive approach to 
development proposals, focused on solutions. The LPA has produced planning 
policies and written guidance to assist applicants when submitting applications. 
These are all available on the Council's website. A pre-application advice service is 
also offered and the Applicant engaged with this prior to the submissions of this 
application. The LPA has negotiated with the applicant/agent where necessary 
during the application process to ensure that the proposed development is in 
accordance with the Development Plan.

 2 The Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) applies to all 'chargeable development'. 
This is defined as development of one or more additional units, and / or an increase 
to existing floor space of more than 100 sq m. Details of how the calculations work 
are provided in guidance documents on the Planning Portal at 
www.planningportal.gov.uk/cil.

The Mayor of London adopted a CIL charge on 1st April 2012 setting a rate of £35 
per sq m on all forms of development in Barnet except for education and health 
developments which are exempt from this charge. 

The London Borough of Barnet adopted a CIL charge on 1st May 2013 setting a 
rate of £135 per sq m on residential and retail development in its area of authority. 
All other uses and ancillary car parking are exempt from this charge. 

58



Please note that Indexation will be added in line with Regulation 40 of Community 
Infrastructure Levy.

Liability for CIL will be recorded to the register of Local Land Charges as a legal 
charge upon your site payable should you commence development. Receipts of the 
Mayoral CIL charge are collected by the London Borough of Barnet on behalf of the 
Mayor of London; receipts are passed across to Transport for London to support 
Crossrail, London's highest infrastructure priority.

You will be sent a 'Liability Notice' that provides full details of the charge and to 
whom it has been apportioned for payment. If you wish to identify named parties 
other than the applicant for this permission as the liable party for paying this levy, 
please submit to the Council an 'Assumption of Liability' notice, which is also 
available from the Planning Portal website.

The CIL becomes payable upon commencement of development. You are required 
to submit a 'Notice of Commencement' to the Council's CIL Team prior to 
commencing on site, and failure to provide such information at the due date will 
incur both surcharges and penalty interest. There are various other charges and 
surcharges that may apply if you fail to meet other statutory requirements relating to 
CIL, such requirements will all be set out in the Liability Notice you will receive. You 
may wish to seek professional planning advice to ensure that you comply fully with 
the requirements of CIL Regulations.

If you have a specific question or matter you need to discuss with the CIL team, or 
you fail to receive a 'Liability Notice' from the Council within 1 month of this grant of 
planning permission, please email us at: cil@barnet.gov.uk.

Relief or Exemption from CIL:

If social housing or charitable relief applies to your development or your 
development falls within one of the following categories then this may reduce the 
final amount you are required to pay; such relief must be applied for prior to 
commencement of development using the 'Claiming Exemption or Relief' form 
available from the Planning Portal website: www.planningportal.gov.uk/cil.

You can apply for relief or exemption under the following categories:

1. Charity: If you are a charity, intend to use the development for social housing or 
feel that there are exception circumstances affecting your development, you may be 
eligible for a reduction (partial or entire) in this CIL Liability. Please see the 
documentation published by the Department for Communities and Local 
Government at 
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/6314/
19021101.pdf

2. Residential Annexes or Extensions: You can apply for exemption or relief to the 
collecting authority in accordance with Regulation 42(B) of Community 
Infrastructure Levy Regulations (2010), as amended before commencement of the 
chargeable development.

59



3. Self Build: Application can be made to the collecting authority provided you 
comply with the regulation as detailed in the legislation.gov.uk

Please visit 
http://www.planningportal.gov.uk/planning/applications/howtoapply/whattosubmit/cil 
for further details on exemption and relief.

 3 The applicant is advised that any development or conversion which necessitates 
the removal, changing, or creation of an address or addresses must be officially 
registered by the Council through the formal 'Street Naming and Numbering' 
process.

The London Borough of Barnet is the Street Naming and Numbering Authority and 
is the only organisation that can create or change addresses within its boundaries. 
Applications are the responsibility of the developer or householder who wish to 
have an address created or amended.

Occupiers of properties which have not been formally registered can face a 
multitude of issues such as problems with deliveries, rejection of banking / 
insurance applications, problems accessing key council services and most 
importantly delays in an emergency situation.

Further details and the application form can be downloaded from: 
http://www.barnet.gov.uk/naming-and-numbering-applic-form.pdf or requested from 
the Street Naming and Numbering Team via street.naming@barnet.gov.uk or by 
telephoning 0208 359 4500.

 4 Applicants and agents are encouraged to sign up to the Considerate Contractors 
Scheme (www.ccscheme.org.uk) whereby general standards of work are raised and 
the condition and safety of the Borough's streets and pavements are improved.

 5 The applicant is advised that the provisions of The Party Wall etc. Act 1996 may be 
applicable to this scheme. This relates to work on an existing wall shared with 
another property; building on the boundary with a neighbouring property; or 
excavating near a neighbouring building. Further information can be found at 
https://www.gov.uk/party-wall-etc-act-1996-guidance.

 6 The applicant is advised that if any modification is required or proposed to access 
from the public highway, such works would be subject to a detailed investigation by 
the Traffic and Development section. Heavy duty access may need to be provided 
to cater for a heavy duty use and may involve relocation of existing street furniture. 
The works would be undertaken by the Highway Authority at the applicant's 
expense. You may obtain an estimate for this and any associated work on the 
public highway, and further information, from the Traffic and Development Section - 
Development and Regulatory Services, Barnet House, 1255 High Road, Whetstone 
N20 0EJ, by telephone on 020 8359 3018, or via crossovers@barnet.gov.uk.

 7 Demolition should be carried out by an approved contractor and residents notified at 
least seven days before commencement.

 8 In case if any modification is proposed or required to the existing access off the 
public highway then it will be subject to a detailed investigation by the Environment, 
Planning & Regeneration Directorate.  This may involve relocation of any existing 

60



street furniture and would need to be done by the Highway Authority at the 
applicant's expense. Estimate for this and any associated work on public highway 
may be obtained from the Environment Development and Regulatory Services, 
Barnet House, 1255 High Road, London N20 0EJ.

 9 Refuse collection point should be located at a ground floor level and within 10m of 
the refuse vehicle parking bay.  Levelled access should be provided for the refuse 
collection personnel to collect the bins.  The refuse collection personnel are not 
expected to push the bins on an inclined surface to safeguard their Health and 
Safety requirements.  Alternatively, the dustbins will need to be brought to the edge 
of the refuse vehicle parking bay on day of collection.  The applicant is advised that 
the Council's refuse collection department is consulted to agree a refuse collection 
arrangement.

10 Any details submitted in respect of the Construction Management Plan above shall 
control the hours, routes taken, means of access and security procedures for 
construction traffic to and from the site and the methods statement shall provide for 
the provision of on-site wheel cleaning facilities during demolition, excavation, site 
preparation and construction stages of the development, recycling of materials, the 
provision of on-site car parking facilities for contractors during all stages of 
development (Excavation, site preparation and construction) and the provision on 
site of a storage/delivery area for all plant, site huts, site facilities and materials and 
a community liaison contact. Confirmation whether a mobile crusher will be used on 
site and if so, a copy of the permit and indented dates of operation. Confirmation of 
the following: log book on site for complaints, work in accordance with British 
Standards BS 5228-1:2009+A1:2014 and best practicable means are employed; 
clear contact details on hoarding. Standard construction site hours are 8am-6pm 
Monday - Friday, 8am-1pm Saturday and not at all on Sundays and Bank Holidays. 
Bonfires are not permitted on site. Confirmation that an asbestos survey has been 
carried out.

11 The costs of any associated works on the public highway, including reinstatement 
works, will be borne by the applicants and will require the Applicant to enter into a 
rechargeable agreement or a 278 Agreement under the Highways Act 1980.

12 Damage to public highway as a result of development and construction activities is 
a major cause of concern to the Council. Construction traffic is deemed to be 
"extraordinary traffic" for the purposes of Section 59 of the Highways Act 1980. 
During the course of the development, a far greater volume of construction traffic 
will be traversing the public highway and this considerably shortens the lifespan of 
the affected highway. 

To minimise risks and damage to public highway, it is now a requirement as part of 
any new development to undertake a Highway Condition Survey of the surrounding 
public highway to the development to record the state of the highway prior to 
commencement of any development works. The condition of the public highway 
shall be recorded including a photographic survey prior to commencement of any 
works within the development. During the course of the development construction, 
the applicant will be held responsible for any consequential damage to the public 
highway due to site operations and these photographs will assist in establishing the 
basis of damage to the public highway. A bond will be sought to cover potential 
damage resulting from the development which will be equivalent to the cost of 
highway works fronting the development. To arrange a joint highway condition 

61



survey, please contact the Highways Development Control / Network Management 
Team on 020 8359 3555 or by e-mail highways.development@barnet.gov.uk or 
nrswa@barnet.gov.uk  at least 10 days prior to commencement of the development 
works.

Please note existing public highways shall not be used as sites for stock piling and 
storing plant, vehicles, materials or equipment without an appropriate licence. Any 
damage to the paved surfaces, verges, surface water drains or street furniture shall 
be made good as directed by the Authority. The Applicant shall be liable for the cost 
of reinstatement if damage has been caused to highways. On completion of the 
works, the highway shall be cleared of all surplus materials, washed and left in a 
clean and tidy condition.

13 If a concrete pump lorry is operated from the public highway, the surface of the 
highway and any gullies or drains nearby must be protected with plastic sheeting.  
Residue must never be washed into nearby gullies or drains. During the 
development works, any gullies or drains adjacent to the building site must be 
maintained to the satisfaction of the Local Highways Authority. If any gully is 
damaged or blocked, the applicant will be liable for all costs incurred. The Applicant 
shall ensure that all watercourses, drains, ditches, etc. are kept clear of any spoil, 
mud, slurry or other material likely to impede the free flow of water therein.

14 The applicant is advised to engage a qualified acoustic consultant to advise on the 
scheme, including the specifications of any materials, construction, fittings and 
equipment necessary to achieve satisfactory internal noise levels in this location.

In addition to the noise control measures and details, the scheme needs to clearly 
set out the target noise levels for the habitable rooms, including for bedrooms at 
night, and the levels that the sound insulation scheme would achieve.

The Council's Sustainable Design and Construction Supplementary Planning 
Document requires that dwellings are designed and built to insulate against external 
noise so that the internal noise level in rooms does not exceed 30dB(A) expressed 
as an Leq between the hours of 11.00pm and 7.00am, nor 35dB(A) expressed as 
an Leq between the hours of 7.00am and 11.00pm (Guidelines for Community 
Noise, WHO). This needs to be considered in the context of room ventilation 
requirements.

The details of acoustic consultants can be obtained from the following contacts: a) 
Institute of Acoustics and b) Association of Noise Consultants.

The assessment and report on the noise impacts of a development should use 
methods of measurement, calculation, prediction and assessment of noise levels 
and impacts that comply with the following standards, where appropriate:
1) BS 7445(2003) Pt 1, BS7445 (1991) Pts 2 & 3 - Description and measurement of 
environmental noise;
2) BS 4142:2014 - Method for rating industrial noise affecting mixed residential and 
industrial areas;
3) BS 8223: 2014 - Guidance on sound insulation and noise reduction for buildings: 
code of practice;
4) Department of Transport: Calculation of road traffic noise (1988); 
5) Department of Transport: Calculation of railway noise (1995); 

62



6) National Planning Policy Framework (2012)/ National Planning Policy Guidance 
(2014).

Please note that in addition to the above, consultants should refer to the most 
relevant and up to date guidance and codes of practice if not already listed in the 
above list.

15 The applicant is advised to engage a qualified kitchen extraction consultant to 
advise on the scheme, including the specifications of any materials, construction, 
fittings and equipment necessary to achieve satisfactory smoke and odour control. 
Please note that:
- Flue(s) must be 1.5 m* above eaves or any open able windows in the vicinity 
(within 20 metres of the flue) if there are sensitive premises in the vicinity. The final 
discharge must be vertically upwards. There should be no hat or cowl on the top of 
the flue. If flues are to be attached to neighbouring noise/vibration sensitive 
premises they must incorporate anti-vibration mounts, flexible couplings and 
silencers. *If the flue is in a Conservation area then this height may be reduced to 
1m above eaves. 
- The assessment and report on the noise impacts of a development should use 
methods of measurement, calculation, prediction and assessment of noise levels 
and impacts that comply with the following standards, where appropriate: DEFRA 
Guidance on the Control of Odour and Noise from Commercial Kitchen Exhaust 
Systems (DEFRA, January 2005); DEFRA Odour Guidance for Local Authorities 
(DEFRA, March 2010). Please note that in addition to the above, consultants should 
refer to the most relevant and up to date guidance and codes of practice if not 
already listed in the above list.

63



Officer’s Assessment

1. Site Description
 
The application site is situated on the east side of Colney Hatch Lane at the junction with 
Sydney Road. It forms part of the Colney Hatch Local Shopping Parade. The site contains 
a vacant two-storey pitched roofed public house (Class A4) and surface level car park to 
the rear which abuts the adjacent dwelling at no.2 Sydney Road. The surrounding area 
has a mix of uses, with retail and residential flats primarily to the east along Colney Hatch 
Lane and single-family dwellings to the west and north along Sydney Road. The 
surrounding architectural vernacular is predominantly traditional, although there is a 
significant deviation to this in the form of the proximally located South Friern Public Library 
to the west of the application site on Colney Hatch Lane. The library has a contemporary 
block form and façade with glazing along the ground floor and brown, green, jade and 
light-grey coloured render at first and second floor level.  

The application site is not located within a conservation area and is not a locally or 
statutory listed building. There are no trees subject to Tree Preservation Orders (TPO) 
located within the curtilage of the application site. The application site is within a Flood 
Risk 1 Area. 

2. Site History

Reference: B/02657/08
Address: The Minstrel Boy, 156 Colney Hatch Lane, London, N10 1ER
Description: Replacement of existing entrance doors, replacement of windows to front 
elevation with glazed timber folding doors. Alterations to windows on rear elevation. Single 
storey rear extension following demolition of rubbish store. First floor rear extension.
Decision: Approved subject to conditions
Decision Date: 22 September 2008

Reference: B/02658/08
Address: The Minstrel Boy, 156 Colney Hatch Lane, London, N10 1ER
Description: Installation of 3 No. illuminated retractable awnings.
Decision: Approved subject to conditions
Decision Date: 18 September 2008

3. Proposal
 
- Demolition of existing two-storey public house 
- Construction of a part three, part four storey (including basement level parking) building 
containing A1, A2, A3 and A4 use at grade and 9.no self-contained flats above. 
- 11 on-site parking spaces located at basement level
- On-site delivery zone
- 18 cycle parking spaces
- Commercial and residential bin storage 
- Roof Garden

For clarity, the proposal's description has been changed to include the words 'part three, 
part four storey building', instead of 'part two storey, part three storey building'. It should be 
noted that the plans and the proposed building scale have not changed and therefore have 

64



been consulted at the proposed part three part, four storey scale. The change was to 
ensure the proposal description was accurate. 

4. Public Consultation

Consultation letters were sent to 169 neighbouring properties. 91 public responses were 
received comprising 3 letters of support, 2 letters of representation and 86 letters of 
objection. These can be summarised as follows:

Support:

- Good to see redevelopment in the area, where existing building serves no purpose;
- The architecture in the vicinity is a complete mix of styles and ages, and this proposal 
seems to fit in well;
- The development will be good for local businesses and improve the aesthetics of this part 
of Colney Hatch Lane.

Representation:

- Trees need to be saved;
- Shop frontages need to be maintained for high street continuity. 

Objection:

Use:

- There is no need for new commercial space when there are already vacant units within 
the local shopping parade. It will damage existing businesses;
- The demolition of the pub will be a loss to the community and should not be lost;
- Lack of information provided about the proposed commercial use; 
- The pub should be improved and reopened;
- Any future use should be used for community purposes, or a pub / café. 

Character:

- The development is out of character and not sympathetic with the adjacent streetscape 
and local design vernacular;
- The proposed height is excessive and overbearing; 
- Using the Library as a design precedent is unjustified as this is a public space;
- A landmark design is not wanted in this area; 
- It is overdevelopment which should be reduced and limited to residential use only;
- The design needs to be toned down and made more in keeping with the local design 
vernacular. 

Amenity: 

- The proposed development would worsen air quality and road safety as a result of more 
trip journeys to the site;
- The development will overlook neighbouring rear gardens causing harm to the privacy of 
neighbouring occupiers;
- Loss of light would be caused to neighbouring occupiers due to the height of the 
proposed development;
- Excessive noise and dust caused during the demolition and construction phases;

65



- Concern that the basement works will impact on the foundations of nos. 2 and 4 Sydney 
Road where the new building will connect at first and second floor level;
- Insufficient usable amenity for future occupiers;
- The corridor widths and door sizes are insufficient and inadequate for disabled 
wheelchair access;
- The development will add further pressure on local services;
- Will remove right of way to back garden of no.2 Sydney Road which is currently 
accessed via the site's car park. 

Highways:

- The site is by a zebra crossing and Sydney Road itself is also heavily crossed to reach 
the bus stop. Visibility is poor and over the years there have been multiple accidents. The 
proposal, with its loading bays and garage access, would make it worst. There is a 
concern for the safety of children crossing the road;
- The 11 spaces proposed are insufficient for 9 residential flats;
- The proposed development will exacerbate traffic problems along this stretch of Colney 
Hatch Lane;
- The single lane entrance to the car park will increase traffic on a residential road and 
cause a danger to pedestrians on Sydney Road where it is already a very overused 
residential side road;
- The A1/A2/A3/A4 unit will attract additional visitors in cars which in combination with 
visitors for the residential units will create an unsustainable car parking density in Sydney 
Road and Colney Hatch Lane;
- Loading area will obscure entrance to the main car park entrance;
- All-day Controlled Parking Zones and restrictions on loading hours are needed. 

Trees:

- The current proposal involves the felling of two mature Indian Bean Trees of great beauty 
and environmental value. The new proposal should maintain these trees;
- The removal of the very established mature trees should not be allowed as this will have 
a detrimental effect to the air quality and the visual amenity of the area; 
- The trees in front of the site are subject to Tree Preservation Orders.

Affordable Housing:

- The proposed development provides no affordable housing;
- More affordable housing needs to be provided on site. 

Consultation:

- There has been a lack of consultation on this application.

Internal Consultee Comments:

- Arboriculturalist: Loss of trees acceptable subject to scheme of replacement trees.
- Highways: Recommend for approval subject to conditions and informatives. 
- Environmental Health: Acceptable subject to conditions and informatives. 
- Thames Water: No objection.
- Fire Brigade: No objection. 

5. Planning Considerations
66



 
5.1 Policy Context
 
National Planning Policy Framework and National Planning Practice Guidance
The determination of planning applications is made mindful of Central Government advice 
and the Local Plan for the area. It is recognised that Local Planning Authorities must 
determine applications in accordance with the statutory Development Plan, unless material 
considerations indicate otherwise, and that the planning system does not exist to protect 
the private interests of one person against another.
 
The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) was published on 27 March 2012. This is 
a key part of the Governments reforms to make the planning system less complex and 
more accessible, and to promote sustainable growth.
 
The NPPF states that 'good design is a key aspect of sustainable development, is 
indivisible from good planning, and should contribute positively to making places better for 
people'. The NPPF retains a presumption in favour of sustainable development. This 
applies unless any adverse impacts of a development would 'significantly and 
demonstrably' outweigh the benefits.
 
The Mayor's London Plan 2016
The London Development Plan is the overall strategic plan for London, and it sets out a 
fully integrated economic, environmental, transport and social framework for the 
development of the capital to 2050. It forms part of the development plan for Greater 
London and is recognised in the NPPF as part of the development plan.
 
The London Plan provides a unified framework for strategies that are designed to ensure 
that all Londoners benefit from sustainable improvements to their quality of life.

The Mayor's Draft London Plan
Whilst capable of being a material consideration, at this early stage very limited weight 
should be attached to the Draft London Plan. Although this weight will increase as the 
Draft London Plan progresses to examination stage and beyond, applications should 
continue to be determined in accordance with the 2016 London Plan.

Barnet's Local Plan (2012)
Barnet's Local Plan is made up of a suite of documents including the Core Strategy and 
Development Management Policies Development Plan Documents. Both were adopted in 
September 2012.
- Relevant Core Strategy Policies: CS NPPF, CS1, CS4, CS5, CS10, CS14.
- Relevant Development Management Policies: DM01, DM02, DM03, DM08, DM12, DM13 
and DM17.
 
Supplementary Planning Documents
Residential Design Guidance SPD (October 2016)
Sustainable Design and Construction SPD (October 2016)

5.2 Main issues for consideration
The main issues for consideration in this case are:
- Principle of development;
- Whether harm would be caused to the character and appearance of the application site, 
the street scene and the wider locality;
- Whether harm would be caused to the living conditions of neighbouring residents;

67



- Whether adequate amenity would be provided for future occupiers;
- Impact on highways;
- Provision of refuse storage

5.3 Assessment of proposals

Principle of development

This application seeks planning permission for the demolition of the former Minstrel Boy 
Pub on the corner of Colney Hatch Lane and Sydney Road to facilitate the construction of 
a mixed-use building containing basement level parking for 11 cars, ground floor 
commercial space for A1, A2, A3 and A4 uses and 9 self-contained flats above. The 
building is proposed at a part three, part four storey scale and will be in line with the height 
of adjoining buildings.

The application site has been vacant since the closure of the Minstrel Boy Pub (Class A4) 
in 2016. Therefore, this application does not result in the closure or loss of an operational 
pub, but rather seeks to redevelop a vacant site with a flexible commercial use at ground 
floor which would allow for the reintroduction of an A4 use on site should a viable 
opportunity be forthcoming. Given the site is located within a local shopping parade, A1, 
A2 and A3 uses are considered appropriate.

A number of comments received as part of this applications public consultation, refer to the 
community value and benefit the former pub delivered and want the site used in the future 
for a similar community use. Policy 4.8 of the London Plan states:

The Mayor recognises the important role that London's public houses can play in the 
social fabric of communities (see also Policy 3.1B) and recent research highlights the rapid 
rate of closures over the past decade and the factors behind these. To address these 
concerns, where there is sufficient evidence of need, community asset value and viability 
in pub use, boroughs are encouraged to bring forward policies to retain, manage and 
enhance public houses.

Policy DM13 addresses community use within the borough. While a public house is not 
explicitly referenced within the policy, it is recognised that the list of community uses 
identified within the policy is not exhaustive and that the community benefit that a public 
house can deliver is clearly addressed within the London Plan (2016) as highlighted 
above. Policy DM13 addresses the loss of a community use as follows: 

a: Loss of community or educational use will only be acceptable in exceptional 
circumstances where:

i. New community or education use of at least equivalent quality or quantity are provided 
on the site or at a suitable alternative location; or 
ii. There is no demand for continued community or education use, and that the site has 
been marketed effectively for such use.

The flexible A1, A2, A3 and A4 use for the commercial unit proposed is considered of at 
least an equivalent quality to the now vacant Minstrel Boy Pub and would provide a high-
quality open plan space that could accommodate an A4 use. This will be dependent upon 
demand. Furthermore, the site has been vacant and available since 2016 as an A4 use. 
This period of time is in excess of the 12-month's the Council would expect the site to be 
marketed in order to establish demand. In the absence of any identified demand for the 

68



continuation of an A4 use on site, it is considered that the A1, A2, A3 and A4 uses 
proposed provides sufficient flexibility to both redevelop the site should an A4 use not be 
forthcoming, but also to give sufficient scope to re-provide an A4 use onsite should an 
identified demand come to light. Therefore, it is considered that the proposed development 
would be compliant with DM13. 

Policy DM12 addresses the maintenance of local centres and parades. The policy is 
primarily focused on preventing the loss of A1 uses within these areas, but outlines the 
measures that are required should a scheme seek to introduce a different use. It notes that 
A2, A3, A4 and A5 uses are appropriate in local shopping parades. The proposed 
development does not result in the loss of an A1 unit, but seeks to provide one as part of 
the flexible commercial use proposed. Therefore, it is considered that the proposal is 
compliant with local policy regarding uses within local shopping parades. 

Regarding the residential (Class C3) element of the proposal, this is considered 
acceptable in-principle given the surrounding area is predominantly characterised by 
residential dwellings and flats. Residential uses above ground-floor commercial units 
within local shopping parades are considered appropriate and a sustainable form of 
development. Indeed, Policy 3.4 of the London Plan (2016) reinforces the need to make 
efficient use of land in areas such as where the application site is located. It states: 

Taking into account local context and character…and public transport capacity, 
development should optimise housing output for different types of location within the 
relevant density range.

The proposed development is considered an urban setting with a Public Transport 
Accessibility (PTAL) of 3. It has a habitable room per hectare rating of 437 hr/ha which 
would comply with the range outlined in the density matrix contained within Policy 3.4 of 
the London Plan (2016). It should be noted that the density matrix is not meant to be 
enforced rigidly, but is a guide to be used alongside wider character and transport 
considerations. Nevertheless, the proposed development's density level falls within the 
range recommended within the London Plan (2016).
 
Based on the above, it is considered that the proposal is acceptable in-principle and 
accommodates policy compliant uses within a local shopping parade. The proposal would 
not result in the loss of either an A1 or A4 use onsite and therefore would be compliant 
with Policies DM12 and DM13. 

Character and appearance

All new development is expected to preserve and respect the established character and 
appearance of the surrounding area. Policy DM01 states that: 

b. Development proposals should be based on an understanding of local characteristics. 
Proposals
should preserve or enhance local character and respect the appearance, scale, mass, 
height and pattern of surrounding buildings, spaces and streets.

As noted above, the area surrounding the application site on Colney Hatch Lane has a 
largely consistent architectural vernacular and building scale. The local shopping parade is 
predominantly characterised by three-storey pitched roofed buildings clad in red brick with 
traditional design features such as chimney stacks and window detailing. There have been 
some modern additions to the local shopping parade such as the extensions recently 

69



approved at no.154 Colney Hatch Lane (ref: 17/0337/FUL) adjoining the application site, 
which don't include these details. However, they all broadly adhere to the overarching 
design vernacular existent within the local shopping parade. The application site is 
somewhat at odds with the adjacent streetscape in both its scale and form.

The adjacent dwelling houses along Colney Hatch Lane and Sydney Road are 
predominantly at two-storey scale and include different design features such as front and 
side gables. Due to the topography along Colney Hatch Lane, a number of dwelling 
houses are elevated above the public highway and therefore have a slightly greater visual 
prominence within the streetscene.

The one significant exception to the established design vernacular surrounding the 
application site is the South Friern Library which was granted permission in 2006 (ref: 
N15252/06). The library has a contemporary design to both its form and material finish 
which acts as a visual focal point along Colney Hatch Lane. The library is a civic building 
yet it was granted permission with residential flats above the library and new dwellings on 
Sutton Road. The dwellings on Sutton Road have a contemporary design. The committee 
report for that application notes that the 'proposed buildings would be a high-quality design 
solution that would not be harmful to the character and appearance of the streetscene and 
the locality'.  

It is acknowledged that the proposed scheme would deviate from the established 
character discussed above, but it is considered that the impact on character would be 
acceptable on balance. Paragraph 2.3.9 of Policy DM01 states:

Whilst the policy [DM01] intention is to protect local character, it should not be used to 
restrict well designed and sympathetic development which meets other objectives in the 
Core Strategy, Development Management Policies DPD, the council's suite of Design 
Guidance Notes and Supplementary Planning Documents.

Furthermore, the revised NPPF states the following: 

Where the design of a development accords with clear expectations in plan policies, 
design should not be used by the decision-maker as a valid reason to object to 
development 

The NPPF also places 'great weight' on innovative designs that promote high levels of 
sustainability. There are character considerations to weigh-up as part of the overall 
assessment, but the focus of the NPPF is very much on promoting innovative designs, in 
sustainable locations that do not cause significant harm to the surrounding character. 
 
It is considered that the proposal is well-designed and enables an efficient redevelopment 
of a vacant site. The proposed development would provide a policy compliant use which 
would bring forward an enhanced commercial offering along Colney Hatch Lane and would 
facilitate the creation of new residential accommodation in a sustainable location. The 
proposed development has been designed to balance the efficient use of the site, whilst 
providing a building scale, and footprint which respects the surrounding building forms and 
uses. The design addresses the three-storey scale along Colney Hatch Lane and the two-
storey scale along Sydney Road, and provides a visual transition between the pitched 
roofs of the adjoining properties and the flat roof of the proposed design. The proposed 
development does not exceed the height of the adjoining buildings. It provides a U-shaped 
design feature in-between the Sydney Road and Colney Hatch Lane elevations which 
provides visual interest, breaks up the building bulk and enables a transition between the 

70



differing elevational scales. The glazed ground-floor level façade will enable an active 
frontage to the building in compliance with DM01. The design respects the existing 
building line along Colney Hatch Lane and Sydney Road and provides new tree planting 
and a wider pavement width to the front of the commercial use on Colney Hatch Lane to 
enhance the functionality of the public realm. It is considered that the removal of the 
existing brick wall and railings to the front of the Minstrel Boy provides an enhanced visual 
aesthetic and de-clutters and enhances the functionality of the public realm along a section 
of Colney Hatch Lane that has narrow public pavement widths.

Regarding trees, Policy DM01 states that:

k. Trees should be safeguarded. When protected trees are to be felled the council will 
require replanting with suitable size and species of tree where appropriate.

It is acknowledged that the proposed development would result in the loss of the sites two 
mature trees which provide a level of visual amenity within the streetscene. However, the 
Council's TPO Officer and Arboriculturalist have assessed the quality of these trees and 
concluded that they were not worthy of a Tree Preservation Order. Therefore, the two 
trees have no current protection and could be felled without Council permission. To 
compensate for the loss of these trees, 5 new trees will be planted along both Colney 
Hatch Lane and Sydney Road, and areas of soft landscaping will be introduced. Details of 
the proposed trees and areas of soft landscaping will be secured via condition. 
Considering the existing trees have no protection and could be felled without Council 
permission, it is deemed that the provision of 5 new trees is acceptable and will help to 
mitigate the visual impact resulting from the loss of the two existing trees within the 
streetscene. Given the proximity of the tree roots to the Minstrel Boy, it is expected that 
any redevelopment of the site which includes the demolition of the existing building would 
severely compromise their long-term health and viability. 

The proposed facing materials have been selected to better integrate the new 
development with adjacent buildings. Therefore, unlike the adjacent library which stands 
out in both its form and external facing materials, the proposed development will use 
glazing to the ground-floor and a high-quality red brick above to soften the visual impact of 
the design. The use of red bricks is considered sympathetic and in keeping with the red 
brick used within the local shopping parade. The size of the windows and use of Juliette 
balconies have been introduced to break-up the visual dominance of the brick facades. 
The height of the commercial unit aligns with the adjoining property to ensure any future 
fascia boards are visual consistent. 

The form of the building to the rear has again been designed to respect to the adjacent 
uses and residential amenity of neighbouring occupiers. The roof form provides an 
acceptable transition from neighbouring scales and roof forms, and the building form 
adjoining no.154 Colney Hatch Lane, slopes back to reduce the projection and visual 
dominance of the building. The building line conforms with the established building line of 
no.154 to again reduce the perception of visual overbearing and protect the wider 
residential amenities of neighbouring occupiers at nos. 2 and 4 Sydney Road. It is 
considered that from a character and appearance perspective, the design to the proposed 
development when viewed from the rear of the application site would be acceptable. 

Policy DM01 also requires new developments to the following: 

a. Represent high quality design which demonstrates high levels of environmental 
awareness and contributes to climate change mitigation and adaptation.

71



The proposed development would have a high level of energy and building sustainability, 
including the provision of rooftop photovoltaic (PV) panels. This will be secured by 
condition but is a consequential benefit of the proposed design.  

It is acknowledged that the design detailing and form deviates from the majority of the 
surrounding building forms. In that sense, the proposed development it is out of character. 
However, it is considered that this deviation is acceptable on balance and unlocks a 
number of wider regenerative benefits for the site and the local shopping parade in line 
with the aims and objectives of local policy. These include new housing in a sustainable 
location, high-grade commercial space with a flexible use and the potential to attract new 
end users to the local shopping parade with associated benefits for existing businesses. 
The design itself appropriately responds to the scale of adjacent buildings, provides an 
active street frontage and enhanced public realm, and proposes facing materials which are 
considered sympathetic to those used elsewhere along this section of Colney Hatch Lane.  
It is not considered that the design would appear overbearing within the streetscene given 
its scale aligns with adjoining properties and the U-shaped design feature breaks up the 
flat roof. Instead, it is considered to represent a high-quality design and provide a level of 
visual interest that would complement rather than detract from the appearance of the local 
shopping parade and wider locality. It is deemed that the proposed design would not 
represent a departure from Policy DM01, or have a detrimental impact on the character 
and appearance of this section of Colney Hatch Lane and Sydney Road. It is therefore 
recommended for approval on character grounds. 

Neighbouring Amenity 

Paragraph 2.7.1 of Policy DM01 states that: 

Schemes which significantly harm the amenity of neighbouring occupiers will be refused 
planning permission. Protecting amenity helps to protect the well-being of the boroughs 
residents. It is important to ensure that developments do not significantly overshadow 
neighbouring buildings, block daylight, reduce sunlight, or result in a loss of privacy or 
outlook.

It is considered that the proposed development would have an acceptable impact on the 
residential amenity of neighbouring occupiers. As discussed above, the rear building line 
has been set in line with no.154 to provide an acceptable set-back from no.2 Sydney 
Road. Indeed, the proposed building form adjacent to no.154 has been sloped to further 
increase the set-back from no.2 and by so doing, reducing the perception of overbearing 
and opportunities for overlooking. The vantage points provided are considered broadly 
comparable to those existing at no.154 and the proposed set-back appropriate. Any 
redevelopment of the site that includes the demolition of the existing Minstrel Boy pub and 
creation of a building to a similar scale to no.154, would follow the same rear building line 
and present the same opportunities for overlooking as the proposed development. The 
proposed windows above two-storey level are located within the element of the design that 
slopes away from no.2. Based on the above, it is considered that the design would not 
result in an unreasonable level of overlooking into adjacent properties and garden, or 
create a sense of overbearing given the proposed scales and sloped design. 

Regarding overshadowing, the applicant has provided as part of this submission, a 
Daylight and Sunlight Assessment that demonstrates any impact on neighbouring 
dwellings would comply with BRE guidelines. The assessment provides the results of a 
Vertical Sky Component (VSC) test that concludes, 'the effect on VSC is within the 80% 

72



guidance value in all cases. There will therefore be no adverse impact on neighbouring 
residents in terms of daylight.' Based on the result of this assessment and a review of the 
sites orientation and proposed layout, it is considered that the proposal would not result in 
harmful levels of overshadowing to neighbouring occupiers.  

The roof top terraces and residential and commercial plants have been sited away from 
adjoining properties to reduce the impact of any associated noise and disturbance on 
neighbouring occupiers. The roof terraces will be located behind the roof parapet wall and 
will be appropriately screened to the rear to protect the privacy of neighbouring occupiers. 
Details of all roof top terraces, plant and PV panels will be secured via condition and will 
require approval before any development commences onsite. 

Access to the underground car park is sited adjacent to no.2 Sydney Road. However, it is 
considered that any associated noise and disturbance is reasonable given the existing 
site's car park and access is adjacent to no.2. Indeed, the existing car park is surface level 
which is considered to have a greater noise impact from engine noise and people 
conversing near their car, than an underground car park where much of this activity is 
largely concealed. A traffic light system will be used at the entrance to the car park to limit 
any car idling associated with accessing the basement level and to keep the public 
highway and footpath clear. 

It is not considered that the proposed development would result in a harmful level of noise 
and disturbance associated with the comings and goings to the site. Access to the 
commercial use is located on Colney Hatch Lane and the local shopping parade and 
residential access is located on Sydney Road, a residential street. The proposed level of 
site occupancy is considered acceptable given the site's location within a local shopping 
parade, its siting on a main road and the fact the previous pub use could accommodate a 
large number of people during peak times. Indeed, the application site is considered a 
sustainable location where land use efficiency is required. The proposed units meet the 
minimum internal space requirements outlined in the London Plan (2016) and do so within 
a building envelope and to a scale considered in keeping with adjacent buildings. 

Based on the above, it is considered that the impact on neighbouring occupier amenity is 
acceptable and given its compliance with Policy DM01, is recommended for approval on 
amenity grounds. It should be noted that any noise and disturbance caused during the 
demolition and construction phases would be covered under a Demolition and 
Construction Method Statement which would be secured via condition and the subject of 
review by both the Council's Highways and Environmental Health Departments. Other 
conditions will be attached to any permission relating to hours of construction and 
mechanical plant. 

Living standards for future occupiers 

Floor Area:

The London Plan (2016) and Section 2.1 of the Sustainable Design SPD (Oct 2016) set 
out the minimum gross internal area (gia) space requirements for residential units. A 
bedroom measuring 11.5m2 and above is calculated as a two-person room. The proposed 
units are measured as follows: 

Flat 1: 2-bed, 3-person, 1-storey - 66m2 provided / 61m2 required
Flat 2: 2-bed, 3-person, 2-storeys - 70m2 provided / 70m2 required
Flat 3: 2-bed, 3-person, 1-storey - 61m2 provided / 61m2 required

73



Flat 4: 2-bed, 3-person, 1-storey - 66m2 provided / 61m2 required
Flat 5: 2-bed, 3-person, 1-storey - 63m2 provided / 61m2 required
Flat 6: 1-bed, 2-person, 1-storey - 50m2 provided / 50m2 required
Flat 7: 2-bed, 3-person, 1-storey - 62.2m2 provided / 61m2 required
Flat 8: 1-bed, 2-person, 1-storey - 61m2 provided (usable) / 50m2 required
Flat 9: 2-bed, 3-person, 1-storey - 62.9m2 provided / 61m2 required

All proposed units meet the minimum internal space standards stated above.

Table 2.2: Internal layout and design requirements of Barnet's Sustainable Design and 
Construction SPD (Oct 2016) states that bedrooms should meet the following 
requirements. 

- Single bedroom: minimum area should be 7.5 m2 and is at least 2.15m wide;
- Double/twin bedroom: minimum area should be 11.5 m2 and is at least 2.75m wide and 
every other double (or twin) bedroom is at least 2.55m wide.

All proposed bedrooms meet the above standards.

Floor to ceiling height:

Table 3.3 of Policy 3.5 of the London Plan states that a minimum ceiling height of 2.3 
metres is required for at least 75% of the gross internal area of a dwelling.

All proposed units meet the above standard. 

Room Stacking:

It is considered that the room stacking proposed is acceptable. A sound proofing condition 
will be secured via condition.

Light/outlook:

Barnet's Sustainable Design & Construction SPD (Oct 2016) section 2.4 states that glazing 
to all habitable rooms should not normally be less than 20% of the internal floor area of the 
room and that bedrooms and living rooms /kitchens should have a reasonable outlook with 
clear glazed windows. 

It is considered that all units would benefit from an acceptable level of outlook (the majority 
dual aspect) and daylight / sunlight provision. The applicant has provided a Daylight and 
Sunlight Assessment which demonstrates that each habitable room will benefit from good 
levels of natural light in excess of BRE guidelines. 

Amenity Space:

Section 2.3 of the Sustainable Design & Construction states that for flats, 5m2 of usable 
amenity space should be provided per habitable room. Any room at 20m2 or above is 
calculated as two habitable rooms. 

The proposed development does not meet these standards. However, paragraph 8.2 of 
the Residential Design Guidance SPD (2016) states that:

74



Private amenity space for the exclusive use of building occupants is a highly valued asset. 
Sufficient, functional amenity space should therefore be provided for all new houses and 
flats wherever possible.

Given the application site's location within a local shopping parade and the consequential 
space and design constraints, it is not possible to achieve full compliance with the above 
standards. However, recessed balconies and roof top gardens have been included to 
provide private external amenity space to all units, with balconies meeting the 1.5m depth 
requirements in the aforementioned design SPD. In addition to the private usable external 
amenity space being provided for each unit, the application site is also located around 
600m from the Muswell Hill Playing Fields, which is considered an excellent amenity 
resource that can augment the proposed onsite amenity provision. It is considered that 
based on the above, the provision of usable external amenity to future occupiers is 
acceptable on balance. 

Based on the above, it is considered that the proposed development would provide an 
acceptable level of amenity for future occupiers and consequently, this application is 
recommended for approval on amenity for future occupier grounds. 

Highways 

The proposed development proposes 11 parking spaces for the residential use via a 
basement level car park. Based on the number of units proposed, the parking requirement 
would be 7 to 12.5 spaces. The Public Transport Accessibility (PTAL) for the site has been 
assessed as 3 which is considered as a medium accessibility level. Therefore, for a site 
within a PTAL rating of 3, the proposed 11 parking spaces are in accordance with Policy 
DM17.

The proposed development will provide 2 wheelchair accessible parking spaces and 
Electrical Vehicle Charging Points (EVCPs). Details of these will be secured via condition.

Gated access to the basement parking area is proposed from a curved ramped access 
from Sydney Road using the existing vehicle crossover. The applicant has stated within 
their Transport Statement that the surfacing and kerbing in the vicinity of the existing 
crossover are in poor condition and will liaise with the Council's Highways Department to 
arrange for the crossover to be relocated and improved to better facilitate access to the 
new development.

It is proposed that the access ramp will have a maximum gradient of 1 in 6 with transitions 
to the top and bottom of the ramp.  The ramped access will be wide enough for a large car 
to negotiate with the passing place extending at least six metres from the highway 
boundary to allow room for an incoming car to wait for an outgoing one without blocking 
the public footway.

Due to the narrow width and ramps curvature, traffic signal controls are proposed with 
priority given to vehicles coming off the public highway. This is to ensure vehicles are not 
waiting on the public highway or footpath while waiting to access the basement level 
parking to the detriment of highway and public safety and the free flow of traffic. A 
condition will be attached to any permission requiring details of the maintenance contract 
for the operation of the signalised access and the electronically operated gate to ensure 
that any faults to the system can be quickly rectified.

75



In compliance with Policy 6.9 of the London Plan (2016), 18 secure cycle parking spaces 
for future residential occupiers are to be provided in the basement, and 7 spaces are to be 
provided to the front of the commercial unit on Colney Hatch Lane for use by both 
residential visitors, and staff and customers of the commercial unit. 

Refuse collection will take place direct from Sydney Road with bins stored internally and 
access via the Sydney Road elevation.  

It is proposed that small to medium sized rigid goods vehicles will be used for commercial 
and residential deliveries and will park on the section of Sydney Road, on the south side, 
northeast of the short section of double yellow lines near the junction, as there are no 
loading restrictions on this road. The applicant has stated in the Transport Assessment 
that to avoid the possibility of this kerbside being occupied by parked vehicles a loading 
space would be sought between the crossover and the start of the double yellow line. The 
applicant has been advised that this will require a separate application made to the 
Highways Department. For clarity, loading vehicles will not be able to stop on Colney 
Hatch Lane immediately adjacent to the pedestrian crossing.

Based on the above and following consultation with the Council's Highways Department, 
this application is recommended for approval on highways grounds subject to conditions. It 
is considered that the measures taken are acceptable in view of public and highway safety 
and the free flow of traffic, and are in compliance with Policy DM17. 

Refuse 

The proposed development is required to comply with Barnet's Waste and Recycling 
Strategy (2018). The proposed refuse and recycling bins are to be located internally to the 
rear of the commercial units and adjacent to the residential entrance. They have been 
designed to provide separation between commercial and residential waste. Details of this 
along with the collection strategy will be secured via condition.

5.4 Response to Public Consultation

- Good to see redevelopment in the area, where existing building serves no purpose:

Noted 

- The architecture in the vicinity is a complete mix of styles and ages, and this proposal 
seems to fit in well:

Noted

- The development will be good for local businesses and improve the aesthetics of this part 
of Colney Hatch Lane:

Noted

- Trees need to be saved:

See character section above

- Shop frontages need to be maintained for high street continuity:

76



Noted

- There is no need for new commercial space when there are already vacant units within 
the local shopping parade. It will damage existing businesses:

See the principle section above

- The demolition of the pub will be a loss to the community and should not be lost:

See the principle section above

- Lack of information provided about the proposed commercial use

The commercial unit would have a flexible A1, A2, A3 and A4 use. Details of the end user, 
if there is one, has not been provided to the Council

- The pub should be improved and reopened:

The flexible use enables a public house to be reopened on site

- Any future use should be used for community purposes, or a pub / café:

The flexible use enables a pub or café to be located on site

- The development is out of character and not sympathetic with the adjacent streetscape 
and local design vernacular:

See character section above

- The proposed height is excessive and overbearing:

See character section above

- Using the Library as a design precedent is unjustified as this is a public space:

See character section above

- A landmark design is not wanted in this area:

Noted

- It is overdevelopment which should be reduced and limited to residential use only:

The residential units meet the minimum internal space requirements. As this is a local 
shopping parade, a residential use at ground floor would be contrary to local policy

- The design needs to be toned down and made more in keeping with the local design 
vernacular:

See character section above

- The proposed development would worsen air quality and road safety as a result of more 
trip journeys to the site:

77



The Council's Highways Department have reviewed the application and deemed it 
acceptable on highways grounds. It is not considered air quality would worsened. The site 
if used as a public house, or if redeveloped in line with other uses within the local shopping 
parade would generate comparable trip journeys. See Air Quality Assessment provided by 
the applicant as part of this submission

- The development will overlook neighbouring rear gardens causing harm to the privacy of 
neighbouring occupiers:

See amenity section above

- Loss of light would be caused to neighbouring occupiers due to the height of the 
proposed development:

See amenity section and reference to Daylight / Sunlight Assessment

- Excessive noise and dust caused during the demolition and construction phases:

A Demolition and Construction Method Statement will be secured via condition and 
reviewed by both the Council's Highways and Environmental Health Departments

- Concern that the basement works will impact on the foundations of nos. 2 and 4 Sydney 
Road where the new building will connect at first and second floor level:

The proposed development will be subject to building control regulations

- Insufficient usable amenity for future occupiers:

See amenity for future occupier's section above

- The corridor widths and door sizes are insufficient and inadequate for disabled 
wheelchair access:

M4(2) compliance will secured via condition 

- The development will add further pressure on local services:

This is the redevelopment of a vacant site providing commercial and residential uses 
within a local shopping parade. This is considered a sustainable location for development

- Will remove right of way to back garden of no.2 Sydney Road which is currently 
accessed via the site's car park:

This is a civil issue and not a material planning consideration

- The site is by a zebra crossing and Sydney Road itself is also heavily crossed to reach 
the bus stop. Visibility is poor and over the years there have been multiple accidents. The 
proposal, with its loading bays and garage access, would make it worst. There is a 
concern for the safety of children crossing the road:

The Council's Highways Department have reviewed the application and deemed it 
acceptable on highways grounds.

78



- The 11 spaces proposed are insufficient for 9 residential flats:

The Council's Highways Department have reviewed the application and deemed it 
acceptable on highways grounds and in compliance with DM17. See highways section 
above

- The proposed development will exacerbate traffic problems along this stretch of Colney 
Hatch Lane:

The Council's Highways Department have reviewed the application and deemed it 
acceptable on highways grounds.

- The single lane entrance to the car park will increase traffic on a residential road and 
cause a danger to pedestrians on Sydney Road where it is already a very overused 
residential side road:

See highways section above

- The A1/A2/A3/A4 unit will attract additional visitors in cars which in combination with 
visitors for the residential units will create an unsustainable car parking density in Sydney 
Road and Colney Hatch Lane:

The Council's Highways Department have reviewed the application and deemed it 
acceptable on highways grounds.

- Loading area will obscure entrance to the main car park entrance:

See highways section above

- All-day Controlled Parking Zones and restrictions on loading hours are needed: 

The Council's Highways Department have reviewed the application and deemed it 
acceptable on highways grounds. The creation of the loading zone is subject to a separate 
application

- The current proposal involves the felling of two mature Indian Bean Trees of great beauty 
and environmental value. The new proposal should maintain these trees:

See character section above

- The removal of the very established mature trees should not be allowed as this will have 
a detrimental effect to the air quality and the visual amenity of the area:

See character section above

- The trees in front of the site are subject to Tree Preservation Orders:

The existing trees are not subject to Tree Preservation Orders. See character section 
above

- The proposed development provides no affordable housing:

79



This application is not required to provide affordable housing and is policy compliant

- More affordable housing needs to be provided on site:

The proposed development does not provide enough units to trigger the affordable 
housing threshold. Therefore, the provision of affordable housing is a commercial decision 
for the applicant

- There has been a lack of consultation on this application:

This application has been the subject of two rounds of public consultation 

6. Equality and Diversity Issues

The proposal does not conflict with either Barnet Council's Equalities Policy or the 
commitments set in the Equality Scheme and supports the Council in meeting its statutory 
equality responsibilities.
 
7. Conclusion

The proposed development is considered on balance, to have an acceptable impact on the 
character and appearance of the application site and wider streetscene, and will serve to 
unlock wider regenerative benefits for a vacant site within a local shopping parade, in line 
with the aims and objectives of local policy. Furthermore, it is not deemed that the 
proposed development would cause significant harm to the residential amenity of 
neighbouring occupiers, with appropriate conditions also attached to minimise noise and 
disturbance during the demolition and construction phases. The proposed development is 
considered to provide an adequate standard of amenity for future occupiers and is deemed 
acceptable on highways grounds. Consequently, this application is recommended for 
approval.

80



81



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	1 Minutes of last meeting
	6 51 Greenway Close London N20 8ES (Totteridge)
	7 155 Chanctonbury Way London N12 7AE (Totteridge)
	8 1 Sunset View Barnet EN5 4LB (High Barnet)
	9 The TVR Centre 129 Barnet Road Barnet EN5 3LJ  (High Barnet)
	10 The Minstrel Boy Committee Report - 18-3529-FUL

